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Statement of responsibility by the board of directors

The Board of Channe Life Limited (the “Board™) takes responsibility for the integrity, objectivity and reliability of the annual financiel statements of Channel Life
Limited in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Adequale accounting records have been maintained. The Board endorses the
principle of transparancy in financial reperting. The responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the annual financial statements has been delegated to
management.

The responsibility of the external auditors, Ernst & Young Inc., is Io express an indeperdent opinion on the fair presentation of the annual financial statements
based on their audit of Channel Life Limited (the “Company”). The Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that the extemnal auditors were
independent of the Company during the year under review.

The Audit, Actuariel and Risk Committee has confirmed that effective systems of internal control and risk management are being maintained. There were no
breakdowns in the functioning of the internal inancial control systems during the year which had a material impact on the annual financial statements. The
Board is satisfied that the annud financial statements faidy present the financial position, the results of operations and cash flows in accordance with
Internationa! Financial Reporting Standards and is supported by reasonable and prudent judgements consistently applied.

A description of how the Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee camied out its functions is included in the Audit Committee and Directers' reports

The Board is of the opinion thet Channel Life Limited is financially sound and operates as a going concern. The annual financial statements have accordingly
been prepared on this basis.

Consolidated annuel financial statements have not been prepared for the reasons set out in the Directors’ report.

The annual financial statements on pages 13 to 81 were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

K Socikwa J @;{/
Chief Executive Officer C ancial Officer

Johannesbury
15 April 2019



Channel Life Limited
Annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018 4 | Page

Certification by the company secretary

In my capacity as Company Secretary, | hereby cerlify, in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa (the ‘Companies Act'), that for the year ended 31
December 2018, the company has lodged with the Register of Companies al such returns as are required of a public company in terms of this Act, and that all
such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date

Johannesburg
15 April 2019
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Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee {“Audit Committee”) Report

Members and dates of appointment
CG Swanepoel (Chairman) (24/08/2012) , P de V Rademeyer (Previous Chairman) (28/08/2008) resigned 17/04/2018, KT Nondumo (23/08/2016), PE
Speckmann (22/05/2018), PE Burton (22/08/2017) resigned 21/02/2018.

The Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee (“the Audit Commiltee®) comprises of only independent non-executive direclors. All Audit Commitiee members have
financtal or actuarial andfor other relevant areas of experience (as described in its charter}, We confirm, on behalf of the Audit Committee, that they met 4
limes in the year.

The Audit Committee has formal terms of reference reviewed and approved annually by the Board of Directors, which are listed in the Audit Committee's
Annual Plan, The Audil Committee is satisfied it has discharged these responsibilities. All matters on the Annual Plan were considered and we are satisfied
that they were appropriately addressed. A list of the functions of the Audit Commitiee Is contained in the Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee Charter. The
Audit Committee ensured that, at all times, it adhered to the Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee Charter.

The role of the Audit Committee is to fulfil afl of the functions set out in the Companies Act, except those done by the Sanlam Life Limited Audit, Actuarial and
Finance Committee, to assist the Board in fulfiling its responsibility with regard to financial and auditing oversight responsibilities, as well as the overall quality
and integrity of financial and actuarial reporling and intemal control matters, The Audit Committee annually evaluates the Company’s intemal controls and has
satisfied itself that there were no material breakdowns In intemnal financial control systems during the year.

In our deliberations with the external auditors we are confident that the auditors were independent at all imes for the year ended 31 December 2018,

The Audit Committee Report for the 2018 financial year:

The Audit Committee has pleasure in submitting this report, as required in lerms of the Companies Act. The Audit Commiliee consists of independent non-
executive directors. During the period under review, four meetings were held, refer to page 10 for the attendance of the Audit Committee members, At the
meetings, the members fulfilled all their functions as prescribed by the Companies Act as well as those additional funclions as determined by the Board,
excepl those performed by the Sanlam Life Limited Audit, Actuarial and Finance Committee. A list of the functions of the Audit Committee is contained in the
Audit, Actuariat and Risk Commitlee Charter, some of which is elaborated upon above. The Audit Commilttee evaluated the Company's intemal financial
controls, on the basis of reports from management, internal and external audit, and has satisfied itself that there were no material breakdowns in such controls
during the year. The Audit Commitiee has satisfied itself that the audifors are independent of the Company and are therefore abie to conduct their audit
functions without any undue infiuence from the Company. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the annual financial statements faidy present the financial
position, the results of operations and cash flows in accordance with Infernationat Financial Reporling Standards and is supported by reasonable and prudent
judgements consistenily applied and has recommended their appraval io the Board.

CG Swanepoel
Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee Chairman
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholder of Channel Life Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Channel Life Limited set out on pages 13 to 59, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

in our opinicn, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Channel Life Limited as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the company
in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct
for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code), the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA code) and other independence requirements
applicable to performing audits of Channel Life Limited. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code, IESBA Code, and in accordance with other
ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit of Channel Life Limited. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Cther Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the
following:

¢ Statement of responsibility by the board of directors;
o Certification of the company secretary;

o Audit, actuarial and risk committee’s report;

e Directors report;

e Capital management; and

» Risk management report.
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The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is te read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conciude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine Is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disciosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for ene resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
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* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

» Conciude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financlal statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internai control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December
2015, we report that Ernst & Young Inc. has been the auditor of Channel Life Limited for 13 years.

é@g& F£ iousg dasc
J

Ernst & Young Inc.

Director - Eugene Breytenbach
Chartered Accountant SA
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg

30 April 2019
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Nature of business

The Company is a registered Life Insurer, incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of South Africa, providing risk and savings producls.

lssue of shares

No shares were issued during the year. Details of the Company's authorised and issued share capilal are set cut in note 6 on Page 42. No shares were

issued subsequent to year end up to date of this report.

Dividends

A dividend of 20.62 cents per share {49.91 cents on 21 February 2018) was daclared on 21 February 2019 in respect of the 2018 eamings. No withholding tax

on the dividend declared is raised as the dividend is declared within the Group.

Auditors

Ernst & Young Inc
102 Rivonia Road
Sandlon

2146

Company details
Registration number:

Registered address:

Postal address:

Company secretary

Holding company

The Company’s holding company is Sanlam Life Insurance Limited and its ulimate holding company is Sanlam Limited.

Transfer of business

1969/012487/06

Sanlam Business Park
13 West Street
Houghton

2198

P O Box 1941
Houghton
2041

O Ramalhape

The intention of the Board is io transfer the business info Sanlam Developing Markets Limited. The timing and regulalory approval thereof has not been

finalised, thus the basis of preparation of the 2018 annual fianancial statements is unaffected.
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Board of directors and committee memberships

Name Qualification Age in 2019 Date Appolnted |  Date Resigned
|Executive diractors

K Socikwa Beom, LLB. MAP, AMP(Harvard Business School) 50 01-May-17

J Grobler @ CA [SA) 49 12.0t-11

Non-executive chair

| visagie CA {SA) 48 01-Nav-16
|Non-executive directors

P deV Rademeyer CA(SA), CTA. SEP(Staniord) 7 26-Aug-06 17-Apr-18

J Strydom BBusSci, CFA, MBA, FIA, FASSA 44 19-Feb»16

KT Nendumo CA ({SA) 4 23-Aug-16

CG Swanepoel FASSA 69 24-Aug-12

N Mmath BSocSe, BA{Hons), MDP, ELP 54 23 Aug-16 14-Feb-15

PE Burton Beom(Hons), PGD Tax Law 67 22-Aug-17 21-Feb-18

PE Speckmann W CA (SA) 63 21-Feb-18

) Chief Executive

2 Chief Financial Officer

¥ Chairmen effective June 2017
* Pravious Lead Independent Director; resigned 17 Apal 2018
97 _pad Independant Director since 1 May 2018

Summary of meetings attended by directors

Board Audit, Actuarial and Remuneration
Risk Committee Committee
Name A B A B A 8
J Sirydom 4 4
K Socikwa 4 4 inwitation 4 nvitation 4
J Grobler 4 3 invitation 3 invilation 3
| Visagie 4 4 invitation 4 invitation 4
P de V Rademeyer 1 1 1 1 1 1
KT Nondumo 4 4 4 3 4 4
CG Swanepoel 4 4 4 4 4 4
N Mmalli 4 4 invitation 4
PE Burton 1 1 1 1
PE Speckmann 3 3 3 3 3 2

Column A, indicates the number of meelings held during the year while the direclor was a member of the board of commiltee
Column B: indicates the number of meetings atiended by the director during the year while the direcior was a member of hie board or committee

Events after the reporting date

No material facts or circumstances have arisen between the date of the Siatement of Financial Position and this report which may materially affect the

financial position of Channel Life Limited at 31 December 2018,

Group annual financial statements

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sanlem Life Insurance Limited. Channel Life Limited elected in accordance with IFRS 10 paragraph 4(a} not to
present consolidated group financial statements. The Board is satisfied that the publication of the Directors’ Report together with the annual financial
statements of the Company, informs shareholders adequalely about the Company’s financial position in terms of the Companies Act
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Internal control

Based on the reports from management as well as the internal and exteral auditors, the directors are satisfied that effective systems of internal financial
controls are being maintained.

Subsldiaries
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries and associales are set out in note 3.1.

Directors’ Interests in contracts
No material contracts involving directors’ interests were entered intoin the year under review, with the exception of contracts within the Sanlam Group,

Approval of annual financial statements

The annual financial stalements have been approved by the directors &s reflected on page 3, including the certification by the Company Secretary on page 4,
and the Audit, Actuaria! and Risk Committee repori for the 2018 financial year on page 5.

Notice In terms of section 45 of the Companies Act

A special resolution in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act has been passed authorising the Board to make loans to related companies. The Board is
satisfied that the publication of the Directors’ Repert together with the annual financial statements of Channel Life Limited, informs shareholders adequately
gbout the Company’s financial position, results and cash flow in terms of the Companies Act.

Corporate governance

The Company is @ member of the Sanlam Group of companies and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sanlam Life Insurance Limited with ils ultimate holding
Company being Santam Limited ("Sanlam™). As a member of the Sanlam Group, the Company has to comply with the Sanlam Group Corporate Governance
Policy, After considering the nature of the business of the Company (being that of a Public Operating Company), its position in the Sanlam Group as well as
the contents of the Sanlam Group Corporate Governance Policy, the Board has decided to apply all King IV principles and practices covered by the Sanlam
Group Corporate Governance Policy. As a first step in the ongoing commitment to continuous improvement and alignment to sound corporate governance
business practices the Company reviewed its board charters and policies against the King IV principles and recommended practices.

Sanlam Group Corporate Governance Policy

The Board promotes and supports high standards of corporate governance and in doing so endorses the principles of the fourth report on Corporate
Governance in South Africa (King V). The Company subscribes to a govemance system whereby, in particuler, ethics and integrity sel the slandards for
compliance. Jt constantly reviews and adapts its structures and processes to facilitate effective leadership, sustainability and corporate citizenship in support of
the Sanlam Group Strategy and to reflect national and international corporate govemance standards, developments and best practice. With regard to the year
under review, the direclors believe that the King IV principles are already entrenched in the intemal contrdls, policies and procedures governing corporate
conduct within the Company.

lication of and approach to King IV
The Board remains committed to the implementation of King IV at the same level as the Sanlam Group. The Board is salisfied that, during 2018, every effort
was made lo apply and explain all aspects of King |V and has taken steps to ensure adherence with the obligations placed on the Company as a
consequence thereof. The Company regularty assesses its compliance levels in respect of King IV to ensure that &l areas that require improvement are
identified and addressed.

Focus areas during the pest financial year for the Company included:
* On going compliance with and enhancement of the Sanlam Group Corporate Governance Policy Framework.
» Implementation of the Sanlam Group Strategy as refined in 2018.
+ The annual evaluation of the Company's directors in accordance with the King IV independent criteria and other indicators, and on a substance over
form basis.
« Apnual review and approval of the Company's Risk Appelite Statement.
+ On going adherence to the IT Governance Framework and Charter as well as the IT Policy Framework.
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Corporate governance (continued)

Information Technology (IT) is essential for the Company as it has become truly pervasive. The Board's governance of IT directs the strategic and operational
use of IT, ensuring benefits ere realised at an acceptable and articulated level of risk. IT receives appropriate focus and is viewed as an important enabler of
projects that effect change in the Company. Thus, IT Govemance is extended to include all mejor change projects. The IT Governance framework established
at Sanlam Group level extends into the Company and is tailored to suit their specific needs. Similarly, IT Governance capacity and awareness are established
within the Company. The Company uses Sanlam Group policies for risk management, compliance, internal audit, IT management as well as the performance
of the non-audit services by the external auditors.

Refer to the Sanlam Group Comporate Govemnance report 2018 for a greater eppraciation of the application of King IV by the Santam Group. Specifically, under
the Group's Code of Ethical Conduct, no malerial breaches were reported during 2018. The Group compliance function, together with the compliance
functions of the business divisions and unils, facilitetes the management of compliance through the analysing of statutory and regulatory requirements, and
monitoring of the implementation and execution thereof. Malerial deviations are reported to the Sanlam Risk and Compliance Committee. No material matters
of non-compliance with applicable laws, industry regulations and codes, as well as intemal policies, were reported during 2018.

Board sfructure and commitiegs

The Board of the Company as at 31 December 2018 consists of 2 executive and 6§ non-executive directors, 3 directors of whom are independant, including a
lead independent director. All the directors were appointed with the approval of the Company’s holding company, elso a member of the Santam Group of
companies. The details of the dirsctors including their attendance of meetings, education, age and length of service can be found on page 10 of the annud
financial statements. Details of the director fees paid fo individual directors can be found on pages 51 and 52 of the annual financial statements. Formal
Board appraisals are conducted, The Company has an Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee and & Remuneration Commitiee.

The Audit, Actuariel and Risk Committes and Remuneration Commitiee consists of independent non-executive directors. Their roles and responsibilities are
set outin detail in their respective ferms of reference which are reviewed annually, The Company does not have a Nominations Commiltee, Customer Interast
Committee, Social, Ethics & Sustainabilty Committee, IT Steering Committea or &n [nvestment Commitiee. Where necessary these functions are
approprialely addressed by the Board or by the refevant Board Committee of its holding or ultimate holding company.

Summary
The Board is satisfied that the Company complied with all the epplicable Sanfam governance policies as well as with all applicable laws and regulations. The
Board, after due consideration, has recormended the financial statements to the shareholder for approvel.
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1. Introduction

Channel Life Limited's {the "Company”) financial statements are prepared on the historical-cost basis, unless otherwise indicaled, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS), SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Commities, Financial
Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (as amended), in South
Africa. The South African Rand is the functional and presentation currency for the enfity.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sanlam Life Insurance Limited. Channel Life Limited elected in accordance with IFRS 10 paragraph 4(a) not to
present consolidated group financiel statements. The Consolidated Financid Statements of the holding company can be found on

https. fiwww. sanlam.comfinvestorrelations/downloadscenire/Pages/default aspx.

The Channel Life Limited annual financial stalements was compiled by Mr R Hibner, CA{SA) ACMA CGMA under the supervision of the Chief Financial
Officer, Johann Grobler CA (SA).

The following new or revised IFRS and interpretations became effective in the current financial years and have therefore bean applied:
+ IFRS Y9 - Financial Instruments (effective 1 January 2018)
+ IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contraicts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018)

The following new or revised IFRS and interpretations have effective dates epplicable to future financial years and have not been early adopted:
+ IFRS 16 - Leases {eflective 1 January 2019)
» IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over income tax treatments (eflective 1 January 2019)
+ |FRS 17- Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2022)

IFRS 16: Leases was issued by the IASB in January 2016 and replaces 1AS 17: Leases for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, The
Company does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective dale. IFRS 16 has one model for lessees which will result in aimost all leases being
included on the statement of financial position. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and the liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short term and low-value leeses. In addition, the nature of expenses related to those leases will now change as IFRS 16
replaces the straight-ine operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interast expense on lease liabilities.

The accounting for lessors will not change significantly.

As lessor: This new standard is not expected to have a significant impact on how the Company {as lessor) accounts for leases due to the camy forward of the
lessor accounting model from IAS 17. However, the Company anticipates an impact as a result of the enhanced disclosures for lessors required by IFRS 16
namely:

» components of lease income; and

» risk management with respect to exposure to residuel assel risk.

As lessee: The standard will affect primarily the accounting of the Company's operating leases. As at the reporting dale, the Company has aon-cancellsble
operating lease commitments of R14.8 millicn. However, the Company has not yet determined to what extent these commitments will result in the recognition
of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will affect the Company’s profit and classification of cash flows.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the excepticn for short-term and low-value assets and some commitments may relate to arrangements thet will
not qualify as leases under IFRS 16.

As tessee, the Company can either apply the standard using &
+ Retrospective approach; or
+ Modified retrospective approach with optional practical expedients.
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1. Introduction (continued)

The lessee applies the election consistently to all of its leases. The Company plans to apply IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore,
the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjusiment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019, with no
restatement of comparative information.

When applying the modified retrospective approach the leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17, the lessee can elact, on a lease-by-
lease basis, whether to apply @ number of practical expedients on transition. The Company is assessing the potential impact of using these practical
expedients.

The Company is not required to make any adjustments for any lsases in which it is a lessor except where it is an intermediate lessor in a sub-lease.

IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments was issued in June 2017. The Interprelation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the epplication of IAS 12. Initil work performed, indicates that there will be limited impact on the financial
staterents as a result of this standard interpretation.

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts was issued in May 2017. The standard establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. Initial work performed on the impact of IFRS 17 indicates that there will be a significant impact on the
underlying valuation models, systems and processes. The Company is in the process of assessing the requirements of the standard against current data,
processes and valuation models and is expected to finalise this assessment during 2019,

The Company does not expect any other standards issued by the IASB, but not yet effective, to have a material impact on the Company,
2. Financlal statements presentation

Use of estimates, assumptions and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estmates, assumptions and judgements. These estimates and assumptions affact items
teportad in the Company’s statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income, as well as contingent lisbilities. The major items subject to
the application of estimates, assumptions and judgements include:

* The fair value of unlisted investments;

« The valustion of policy ligbilities; and

+ Potential claims and contingencies.

* Impairment of financial assets

» Classification of financial assets

Although estimates are based on management's best knowledge and judgement of cuent facts as &t the statement of financia position dats, the actual
outcome may differ from these estimates, possibly significantly. Refer to note 20 for further information on critical estimates and judgements.

Policyholders’ and shareholders’ activilies

The Company’s financial statements set out on pages 13 to 81 include the activities of the policyholders and sharehelders,

The assets, ligbilities and activities of the policyholders and shareholders in respect of the life insurance businesses are managed separately end e
govemned by the valuation bases for policy liabilities and profit entilement rules, which are determined in accordance with prevailing legislation, IFRS,
generally accepted acluanial practice and actuasial professional guidance. The valuation bases in respect of policy liabilities and the profit entitement of
shareholders are set out in accounting palicy note 3 and note 20.

Cash, deposits and similar securities

Cash, deposits and similar securities include bank account balances, call, term and negotiable deposits, promissory notes and money market collective
investment schemes. A distinction is made between:

+ Cash, deposils and similar securities included in the asset mix of policyholders’ and discretionary shareholders' fund investment portfolios, which are
disclosed as investments in the Company’s statement of financial position; and

« Working capital balances that are disclosed as working capital assets, apart from bank overdrafis, which are disclosed as working capital liabilities.
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2. Financial statements presentation {continued)

Financial instruments

DOue to the nature of the Company’s business, financial instruments have a significant impact on the Company's financial position and performance. Audited
information in respect of the major categories of financie! instruments and the risks associgted therewith is provided in the following sections:

» Note 3: Investments;

+ Note 7: Long-term policy liabilities;

+ Note 20: Critical accounting estimates and judgements; and
+ Page 63: Risk management report.

Funds received from clients

Funds received from clients include single and recuming long-term insurance premium income from insurance and investment policy contracts, which sre
included in the financial statements.

New business

In the case of long-term insurance business, the value of all new policies {insurance and investment contracts) that have been issued during the financial year
and have atleast one premium recognised in the financiel statements, which was not subsequently refunded, is regarded as new business.

P nts to clignts

Payments to clients include policy benefits paid in respect of long-term insurance and investment policy contracts, which are included in the financial
stalements.

lntergroup loans
Intergroup loans are disclosed as follows:
« Loans between the Company and the ultimate holding company ere disclosed as intercompany loans;
+ Loans between the Company and other fellow subsidiary companies are disclosed as intercompany loans; and
¢ Loans between the Company and subsidiaries are included in investment in subsidiaries, to reflect the fotal investment in these subsidiaries.

The fair value of intergroup loans is epproximated by its carrying amount.
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1. Introduction

The Company has identified the accounting policies that are most significant to its business operations and the understanding of its results. These include
policies relating to insurance liabilities, deferred acquisition costs, the ascertainment of fair values of financial assets, financial liabilities, derivative financial
instruments and the determination of impairment losses.

These policies {as set out below) are in accordance with and comply with [FRS and have been applied consistently for all periods presented, unless otherwise
noted.

2. Significant accounting policies

21, Equipment

Equipment is reflected &t ifs depreciated cost prices less accumulated impaimment, where appropriate. Depreciation is provided for on a straight-ine basis,
taking into account the residual value and estimated useful lives of the assets, which vary between three and ten years, If the expected residual value is equal
lo or greater than the camying value, no deprecistion is provided for. The residual values, estimated useful lives of the assets and depreciation methods are
reviewed at each statement of financial position date end adjusted as appropriate.

Useful life for types of equipment:

+ Computer Equipment 3 years
+ Office Equipment 5 years
+ Office Furniture 10 years
+ Vehicles 5 years

Cost prices include cosis directly atiributable to the acquisition of equipment, as well as any subsequent expenditure when it is probable that fulure economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the expenditure can be measured religbly. All other expenditure is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income when incurred.

Equipment is derecognised at disposal dale or at the date when it is permanently withdrawn from use without the ability to be disposed of. The differences
between the carying amounts at the date of de-recognition and any disposal proceeds, as applicable, is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

22 Long-term reinsurance assets

Confracts entered into with reinsurers under which the Company is compensated for losses on one or maore long-term policy contracts issued by the Company
and that meet the classification requirements for insurance contracts are classified as long-term reinsurance contracts. The expected claims and benefits to
which the Company is entiled under these contracts are recognised as assets where maleria. The Company assesses its long-term reinsurence assets for
indicators of impairment bi-annualy. If there is objective evidence that the reinsurance assel is impaired, the camying amount is reduced to a recoverable
amount, and the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

23 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include investments {excluding associates), receivables, cash, deposils and similar
securities, loan to/from holding company, investment policy contracts and trade crediters.
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23. Financial instruments (continued)
231. Racognition and de-recognition

Financial instruments are recognised when the Company becomes perty to a contractual amangement that constitutes a financial asset or financial liability for
the Company that is not subject to suspense conditions.

Financial instruments are derecognised when the contractual right to receive the cash flows expire or when the asset is transferred. On derecognition of a
financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount at the date of derecognition and the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss,

Financial liabifities ere derecognised when the obligation to deliver cash or other resources in temms of the contract is dischamged, cancelled or expires, On
derecognition of a financial lisbility, the difference between the camying amount extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Collateral placed at counterperties as part of the Company's capital market activities are not derecognised, No transfer of ownership takes place in respect of
collateral other than cash and any such collateral accepted by counterpartios may not be used for any purpose other than being held as security for the trades
to which such security reates. In respect of cash secunlty, ownership transfers in law. However, the counterparty has an obligation to refund the same amount
of cash, together with interest, if no default has occumed in respect of the trades to which such cash security relates. Cash collaterd is accordingly also not
derecognised.

232  Classification
2.3.2.1. Einancigl assels

On initial recognition, a financial assetis classified as measured at:
+ Amortised cost; or
+ Fair value through profit or loss {either mandatory or designated); or
+ Fair value through other comprehensive income.

A financial assetis measured at amortised cost if it meets both the following conditions and is not designated as at fair value through profit or loss
* itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
* its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principle and interest on the principle amount outstanding.

A debtinstrument is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if it meets both of the following condifions:
« the assetis held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and sefling financial assets; and
* its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principle and interest on the principle amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income as described sbove are mandatorily
measured al fair value through profit and loss. In addition, the Company designated certain financial assets that would meet the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at fair valre through other comprehensive income as at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

2.3.2.2. Financial lisbililies

On initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of the following categories:
+ Amortised cost; or
+ Fair value through profit or loss {either mandatory or designated);

The classification of financial instruments is determined at initial recognition based on the purpose for which the financial assets are acquired or liabilities
assumed. Financial habilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss comprise held-for-trading liabilities, including derivatives {mandatory fair value
through profit or loss) as well as financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
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3. Financial Instruments (continued)

Oninitiel recognition the Company designates a financial liability s at fair value through profit or loss when doing so results in more relevant information either
because:
+ it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and on them on a different basis, or
« @& group of financial liebifities; or a group of financiel essets and ligbilities in managed and ils performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management or investment stralegy and information about the group is provided internally on that basis o the
entity’s key management personnel,

The Company designates financial insiruments as at fair value through profit or loss in line with its risk management policies and procedures that are based on
the management of the Company's capital and activities on a fair value basis. The Company's internal management reporting basis is consistant with the
classification of its financial instruments.

233  Initial measurement

A financial asset or finencial liability is initielly measured at fair value, plus for a financial asset or financial iiability not measured at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Cosls directly attibutable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of investment surpluses.

234. Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit or foss are measured et fair velue fter initial recognition, Net gains and losses {i.e. on the sale of
investments and fair value gains and losses), interest or dividend income and foreign exchange gains or losses ere recognised in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as investment surpluses. The particular valuation methods adopted are disclosed in the
individuat policy stalements associated with each item.

Financial instruments classified as at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest income, interest axpanse,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss or derecognition is also measured in profil or foss.

23.5. Impairment
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECL") on financial assels measured at amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the loss allowances are measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

At each reporting dale, the loss allowances are measured at an amount equal to the 12 month expected credit losses if;
« The credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition; or
* Financial instruments are determined to have a low credit risk al the reporting date.

The Company detenmines whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly by comparing this risk of default occuming on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of defaull oceurring on the financial instrument s at the date of initial recognition together with
reasonable and supportable information that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition.

At each reporting date the loss allowance are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit osses if the credit risk on a financia) instrument
has not increased significantly since initia! recognition. Financial instruments that are determined to have a low credit risk al the reporting date are assumed lo
have no significant increase in credit risk.
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23. Flnancial instruments {(continued)

At each reporting date, the loss allowance are measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit lossas if the credit isk on the financial instrument has
incroased significantly since initial recognition in credit risk.

i2-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date. Lifetime expected credil losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expecled Eife of a financial
instrument.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss for the amount of expected credit losses {or reversals) that is required to adjust the allowance at the
reporting date.

23.6. Measurement of expected cradjt lossas

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses measured as the present value of all cash short falls {i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.

23.7.  Presentation of loss allowances in the statement of financlal position
Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented as a deduction from the gross camying emounts of the financial assets.
238, Write-offs

The gross camying amount of a financial asset is written off and reduced when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering & financial asset in its entirety
or a pertion thereof,

239 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is currently a legally enforceable sight to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention o settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

23.10. Determination of fair value and falr vaiue hierarchy

The Company is required to disclose the fair value measurements, using a three-level fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
determining the measurements. It should be noted that these disclosure only cover assets and liabilities measured at fair vaue.

Included in Level 1 category are financial assets and liabilities that are measured by reference to unadjusted, quoted prices in an active market for identical
assets and liabilities.

Included in Level 2 category are financial assets and lisbilities measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). For example, instruments measured using a valuation technique based
on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current merket transactions ere categorised as Level 2.

Financial assets and liabiliies measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data are categorised as Levet 3.
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24, Investments
24.1.  Subsidiaries

The Company controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
these returns through its power over the investee,

Investments in subsidieries are trested as investments at fair value through profit and loss. The fair value of insurance companies are determined by using
the Group Equity Value methodology and non-insurance companies ere determined by the using the net asset value methodologies. The net asset value
approximates fair value.

24.2.  Other Investments

Other investments comprise;
+ Equities and similer securities {including non-trading derivatives);
+ Interest bearing investments;
+ Structured transactions;
+  Investment funds;
+ Cash, deposits and similar securities.

These investments are either classified at fair value through profit or loss {measured at fair valug), or as loans and receivables {measured at amortised cost),
&s described in the financial instruments accounting poficy note. Structured transactions include derivatives, structured notes and collaterised securities.

The following bases are used to determine fair velue, for those investments that are classified at fair value through profit or loss:
+ Listed shares and unils in collective investmant schemes are velued at the stock exchange and net asset value prices respectively;
+ The value of unlisted shares is determined by the directors using appropriate valuation bases;
+ Listed bonds are valued &t the stock exchange prices;
+ Unlisted interesl-bearing investments sre valued by discounting expected future cash flows at appropriate market interest rates; and
+ Listed derivative instruments are valued at the South African Futures Exchange prices and the value of unlisted derivatives is determined by the
directors using generally accepied valuation models,

24.3. Structured transactions

Structured transactions include foreign exchange confracts, interest rate futures, forwand rate agreements, cumency and interest rate swaps, currancy, inlerest
rate and equity options and other derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair valus.

Feir values are obtained from quoled market prices. In the absence of quoled market prices the Company uses valuation tachniques that incorporate factors
thal marke!l participants would consider in setfing the price and are consislent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing derivatives such as
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. The Company calibrates its veluation techniques against market transactions or any
evailable observable market dats. Day one gains or losses on derivatives, meesured using these valuation techniques, are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income to the extent that they arise from a technique that incorporates only veriebles based on observable market data. In all other cases the
difference is deferred until there has been a change in one of these veriables {including time), If there has been no change in one of these variables, the gains
or losses are delferred, and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the life of the instrument,

The Company does not separate out embedded derivatives that meet the definition of an insurance contract or relate to investment confracts recognised at
fair value.

Structured transaction liabilities ere classified as mandatorily measured al fair value through profit or loss.
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25. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Accrued investment income is classified in eccordance with the classification of the asset that the investment income stems from to the extent that it forms part
of the carrying value of the instrument.

26. Cash, deposits and similar securities

Cash, deposits and similar securities consist of cash at hand, call deposils at banks, negotiable certificales of deposit and other shori-term highly liquid
investments.

27 Share capital

Share capital is classified as equity where the Company has no cbligation to deliver cash or other assets to shareholders. Incremental costs attributable fo the
issue or cancellation of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity, net of tax if applicable.

28. Long-term policy liabilities

A contract is classified as insurance where the Company accepts significant insurance risk by agreeing with the policyholder to pay bensfits if a specified
uncertain fulure event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder or ather beneficiary. Significant insurance risk exists whera it is expected that for
the duration of the pdicy or part thereof, policy benefits payable on the occusrence of the insured event will significantly exceed the amount payable on early
termination, before allowance for expense deductions at early termination. Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, the classification
remains unchanged for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period.

Policy contracts not classified as insurance contracts are classified as investment contracts and comprise the following categories:
+ Investment contracts with DPF;
+ Investment contracts with investment management services; and
« Other investment contracts.

An investment contract with DPF entitles the policyholder to receive benefils or bonuses in addition to guaranteed benefits. These additional benefits have the
following features;

+ The benefits constitute a significant pertion of each policy's total benefits;

+ The tming and amount of the benefits are at the discretion of the Company, which has to be exercised in a reasonable way; and

+ The bensfits are based on the investment performance of a specified pool of underlying assals,

All investment contracts thet fall within the scope of IFRS 9 (i.e. all investment contracts without DPF ) are designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Premium income from long-term insurance and investment policy contracts is recognised as an increase in long-tem policy liabilities. The full annual
premiums on individual insurance and investment policy contracts that ere receivable in terms of the policy contracts are accounted for on policy anniversary
dates, notwithstanding that premiums are payable in instalments. The monthly premiums in respect of certain new products are in terms of their policy
contracts accounted for when due. Cover only commences when premiums are received. Group life insurance and investment contract premiums are
accounted for when receivable. Where premiums are not determined in advance, they are accounted for upon receipt. The uneamed portion of accrued
premiums is included within long-term policy fiabilities.

29, Provislons

Provisions are recognised when the Company has & present legal or constructive cbligation es a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a relfable estimalte of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised when the expected benefits to be derived from contracts are less than the unavoidable cost of mesting the
cbligations under the contracts, Provisions are measured at the present value of the amounts that are expected to be paid to settle the obligations. Provisions
ere charged fo the income statement in the line item to which it relates.
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211,  Financial services Income (continued)
210.  Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Life insurance pdlicy claims recorded up to the last day of each financial period and claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) are included as part of trade
and cther payables

210.1. Leave entitlement

Employee entitiements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the estimated annual leave as a result of
services renderad by employees up to balance sheet date and is included in accounts payable in trada and other paysables.

211.  Financial services income

Financial services income is considered to be revenue for IFRS purposes and includes both IFRS 15 revenue and revenue scoped out of IFRS 15, The
different sources of revenue are listed below:

« Major IFRS 15 revenue sources;
> Income from investment management actvities, such as fund management fees, collective investment and linked-product admirdstration fees,
commissions, perffomance fees and other faes;
> Income from capital market activities, such as advisory fees and structuring fees on financing provided, and
> Income from other financial services, such as independent financial advice and trust services.
+ Major revenue sources not within the scope of IFRS 15;
> Income eamed from long-term insurance ectivities, such as risk underwriting charges and asset mismatch profits of losses in respect of non-
participating business;
®  Income from investments held for capital market activities, such as realised and unrealised gains or losses on unsecured comporate bonds and
money market assets and lighilities.

Revenue within the scope of IFRS 15 is either recognised at point in tme or over tme. Revenue is racognised over time if one of the following criteria is met:
+ The customer simultansously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company's performance as the Company performs;
+ The Company's perforrance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the assetis created or enhanced; or
+ The Company's performance does not create an asset with an altlemstive use to the Company and the Company has an enforceable right to
payment for performance compleled to date.

if none of the above crileria is met, revenue is recognised at point in time.

IFRS 15 revenue disaggreqation
Revenue from contracls with customers are disaggregated by geographic location and type of revenue. We believe it best depicts how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of our reventre and cash flows are affected by economic factors.

Recoqnitian of different sources of revenue

Fees for investmant management or administration services in respect of investment contracts are recognised as services rendered. [nitial fees that relate to
future rendering of services are deferred and recognised as those future semvices are rendered. Related performance fees are also recognised over time,
however represent vanable consideration and therefore recognition is constrained until there is a "high degree of confidence” that revenue will not be reversed
in a subsequent reporting period; this is typically on crystallisation of the fee.

Commissions from investment management or administration services in respect of investment contracts are recognised as services are rendered. For IFRS
15 purposes, these commissions are recognised either at point in time or over time.

Investment and insurance contract policyholders are charged for policy administration, risk underwriting and other services, The long-term policy contract fee
income is recognised as revenue over time as the related services are rendered.
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212.  Investment return
2121. Investment income
Investment income includes interest and dividend income received.

Interest income is accounted for on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the asset and includes the net income earned from
interest margin business.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established. Dividend income from subsidiaries is recognised when the dividends
are declared by the subsidiary.

2122, Investment surpluses

Investment supluses consist of net realised gains and losses on the sale of investments and net unrealised fair value gains and losses on veluation of
investments at fair value excluding dividend and interest income. These surpluses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date of
sale or upon valuation fo fair value, Costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as investment surpluses.

213.  Long-term Insurance and Investment contract benefits

Underwriting benefits

Life insurance policy claims received up to the last day of each financial period and claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) are provided for and included in
underwriting policy benefits. Past claims experience is used as the basis for determining the extent of the IBNR claims.

Income from reinsurance policies is recognised concurrenty with the recognition of the related policy benefit.

Other policy benefits
Other policy benefits are not recognised in the Company's statement of comprehensive income but refiected as a reduction in long-term policy lisbilies.

Maturity and annuity payments are recognised when due. Surrenders are recognised at the earlier of payment date or the date on which the policy ceases to
be included in long-term policy liabilities.

214.  Sales remuneration

Seles remuneration consists of commission peyable 1o seles staff on long-lerm investment and insurance business and expenses directly related thereto,
beruses payable to sales steff and the Company's contribution to their retirement end medical aid funds. Commission is accounted for on all in-force policies
in the financial period during which it is incured.

Sales remuneration recognised in the stalement of comprehensive income includes the amortisation of deferred acquisiion costs as well as sales
remuneration incurred that is not directly attributable to the acquisition of long-term investment policy contracts.

218, Administration costs

Administration costs inciude, inter elia, indirect taxes such as VAT, property and administrafion expenses relating to property and investment expenses related
to the management of the policyholders’ investments, claims handling costs, product development and training costs.
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216. Leases

Leases of assets, under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and benefits of ownership, are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases are charged to the stalement of comprehensive income on a straight-ing basis over the period of the leasa. Whan an operating lease is
terminsled, any payment required by the lessor by way of a penalty is recognised as an expense in the pericd in which termination takes place.

217,  Taxation
2.17.1. Normal income tax

Current income tax is provided in respect of taxable income &t the amount expected to be paid to (or recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax
rate and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively anacted by the end of the reporting period.

217.2. Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided for on all taxable temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial
reporting purposes using the lishility method, except for;
+ Temporary differences refating to investments in subsidieries where the Company controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary differances and
itis probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable futurs; and

+ Temporary differances arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in transactions other than business combinations that et transaction
date do not affect either accounting or taxable profit or loss.

The amount of deferred income tax provided is based on the expected realisation or settlement of the deferred tex assets and liabilities using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax essets relating to unused tax losses are recognised to the extent
that it is probabte that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax fosses can be ufilised.

Deferred tax balances are reflected at current values and have not been discounted.

218.  Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated to functional currency, i.e. the cumency of the primary economic envirenment in which each of the Company’s
entities operals, al the exchange rates on fransaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities are transiated to functional cumency at the exchange rates ruling at
the financial period end. Non-monetary assets and liabilities camied at fair value are translated to functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at valuation
date. Non-monetery assels and liabiliies camied at historic cost are translaled to functional cumrency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of inital
recognifion. Exchange differences arising on the settiement of transactions or the translation of working cepital assets and liabilities are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as financial services income. Exchange differences on non-monetary assets and monetery assets classified as
investment assets, such as equities and foreign interest-bearing investments, are included in investment surpluses

219.  Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits for employees are provided by way of defined contribution pension and provident funds. The assets of these funds are held in separate
trustae-administered funds. The retirement plans are funded by payments from employees and from the Company, taking into account the recommendations
of independent qualified actuaries.

The Company'’s contributions to the defined contribution funds are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they are incurred in
accordance with fAS 19 Employee Benegfils,
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219.1. Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension pfan under which a Company and employees pay contributions into a fund, The Company has no legal or constructive
cbligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employees service in the cument
and prior periods. Company contributions to the pension funds are based on & percentage of the payroll and are charged against income as incurred.

220. Dividends

Dividends proposed or declared after the statement of financial position date are not recognised at the statement of financial position dete.
221.  Other reserve

The deferred tax asset recognised in respect of the assessed tax loss in policyholder funds increased the Company's net assets without a comesponding
increase in policy liabilities. This created a mismatch with a corresponding impact on the shareholders’ fund, A separate reserve is created for this defemred lax
asset owing to the fact that it represents net assessed losses to the extent assels are considered recognisable, and will be realised as the assessed tax loss is
utilised.

3. Policy ligbilitles

KA R Introduction

The valuation beses and methodology used to celculate the policy lisbilites of @l material lines of long-term insurance business and the comesponding
shareholder profit entilement for the Cempany are set out below.

The valuation bases and methodology, which comply with South African actuerial guidelines and require minimum lisbilities to be held based on a prospective
calculation of policy liabilities, serves as a liability adequacy test. No adjustment is required to the value of the liabiliies at 31 December 2018 as a result of
the aforementioned adequacy test. The valuation bases and methodology comply with the requirements of IFRS.

Where the veluation of long-term policy liabilities is based on the valuation of supporting assets, the assets are valued on the bases as set out in the
accounting policy for investments, with the exception of investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and consolidated funds, which are valued at fair
value,

32 Classification of contracts

A distinction is made between investment contracts without discretionary participation features (DPF) (which fall within the scope of IFRS 9 - Financial
Instruments}, investment contracts with DPF and insurance contracts (where the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) method continues to apply, subject to
certain requirements specified in IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts).

A contract is classified as an insurance confract where the Company accepts significant insurance risk by agreeing with the policyholder to pay benefits if a
specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder or other beneficiary. Significant insurance risk exists where it is
expected that for the duration of the policy or part thereof, policy banefits payable on the occurrence of the insured event wil! exceed the amount payabla on
early termination, before allowance for expanse deductions at eary termination. Once & contract has been classified as an insurance contract the
classification remains unchanged for the remainder of ils lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period.

Policy contracts not classified as insurance contracts are classified as investment contracts and comprise the following categories:
« Investment contracts with DPF;
+ [nvestment contracts with investment management services; and
+ Other investment contracts.
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3.2 Clasasification of contracts (contlnued)

An investment contract with DPF entities the policyholder to receive benefits or bonuses in addition to guaranteed benefits. These additional benefits have the
following features;

+ The benefits constitute a significant portion of each policy’s total benelits;

+ The timing and amount of the benefits are at the discretion of the Company, which has to be exercised in a reasonable way; and

+ The benefits are based on the investment performance of a specified pool of underlying assets.

Allinvestment contracts that fall within the scope of IFRS 9 {i.e. dl investment contracts without DPF) are designated as at fair value through profit or Joss.
3.3. Insurance contracts

3.3.1.  Individual insurance contracts

The actuarial value of the policy liabilities is determined using the FSV methed as described in the Standard of Actuarial Practice (SAP) 104 issued by the
Actuarial Society of South Africa (Actuarial Society), which is consisten! with the veluation of assets at fair value as destsibed in the eccounting policy for
investments. The underlying philosophy is to recognise profits prudently over the term of each contract consistent with the work done and risk bome.

Liabilities are valued as the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the rale of return assumed on the assets backing the policyholder
funds. There is a small portfolio of non-profit life annuities for which cash flows are discounted using the South African risk-free yield curve. Future cash flows
ae projected on a best estimate basis with an allowance for compulsary margins as set out in SAP104 and discretionary margins in line with Company policy.
Best estimale assumptions are required for future: investment returns, bonus rales, expenses, persistency, mortality and other factors that may impact on the
financial positien of the Company. Future voluntary premium increases are profitable and are therefore ignored in line with SAP 104. In order to ensure
appropriate recognition of profit over the life of a contract, no policy is permitted to have an overall negative liability. This result in a discretionary margin for
insurance contracts of R306 million (2017: R276 million). No other discrationary margins are added for insurance contracts.

Economic assumptions are derived with reference to the yield at the valuation date on the risk free yield curve at duration consistent with that of the lisbilities.
The duration is § years (2017 5§ years),

The appropriale asset composition of the various asset portiolios, investment management expenses, taxes at curent tax rates and charges for investment
guaranlees are izken into account in determining the valuation discount rate for each portfolio. The assumptions adopted allow for the current and expected
future tax position of the Company.

The economic assumptions are as follows:

Dec-18 Dec-17
Fixed interest 8.60% 8.00%
Equities 12.10% 1150%
Property 9.60% 9.00%
Cash 7.60% 700%

The gross weighled average return is 9.3% (2017: 8.7%) based on an assumed asset mix of fixed interest (35%), equities {30%) and cash [35%).
Expense inflation is also based on the fixed interest yield and is assumed to be 6.6% {2017: 6%).

Demographic assumptions including mortality, morbidity and persistency rates are derived directly from racent experience and are adjusted for anticipated
future trends. Investigations are performed at least annually and the most recent was performed in June 2018. The future development of AIDS mortality is
projected in line with the requirements of Advisory Practice Note {APN) 105, of the Actuarial Society.
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3.3.1.  Individual insurance contracts {continued)

Future expenses are projected on a per policy basis where the per policy expense is derived from the higher of budget 2019 expenses end ectual 2018
expenses and deflaled/escalated at the assumed expense inflation rate. Renewal expenses ere determined by removing acquisition costs and non-recursing
expenses from the total expenses and adding an ellowance for future project costs which is derived from an analysis of historical project costs,

For individual policies where benefits are linked to the return on an underlying investment portfolio {including smoothed bonus business), the liabilites are
taken as the market values of the underlying investments, built up from the investment allecations made from the premiums paid, adjusted to allow for the
discounted present value of the difference between expected future expenses and expected fulure charges,

Policyholder reasonable expectations are allowed for by projecting future bonuses in line with future investment returns,

Non-participating life annuity instaiments and future expenses in respect of these instalments are discounted at the zerc-coupon yield curve adjusted to allow
for credit risk and investment administration charges, Al profits or losses accrue to the shereholders when incurred.

For certain minor classes of business, including certain rider benefits, liabilities were calculated as a multiple of the monthly premium.

The financial soundness methodology includes aflowance for liability adequacy testing (as required by IFRS 4) to ensure that the carmying amount of technical
provisions is sufficient in view of estimated future cash fiows. When performing the liability adequacy test, contractual cash flows are discounted and
compared to the camying value of the Eability. Where a shortfell is identified an additional provision is made, No such provision was required at 31 December
2018. For smoothed bonus business, this resulls in an implicit bonus smoothing reserve which is currenty positive for all such business.

3.3.2. GroupInsurance contracts

For group insurance contracts, appropriate reserves are held for the unexpired risk pertion of cover provided and for disability claims in payment.
34 Investment contracts

3.4.4.  Investment contracts without discretionary participation features

Investment contracts without discretionary participation features have been valued in terms of IAS 39. These contracts are disclosed under “labilities under
investment contracts” and are valued at fair value. All movements, other than fair vafue movements, on investment contracts are excluded from the statement
of comprehensive income and accounted for directly as part of the fiability.

Fully linked investment contracts are valued by sefting the value of the liabilities equal to the market velue of the assets backing the policies.

Single premium guaranteed policies are valued by discounting expected future cash flows using & risk free yield curve. Liabilities are curvently held for single
premium policies markeled through two different distribution channels. The first group were merketed by the Company; no further single premium policies are
being sold through the Company's distribution staff, other than continuations of existing contracts. The second group of single premium policies were
marketed by Sanlam Personal Finance {SPF). Mo further single premium guaranteed poliies are being sold through SPF. A fiat deduction is made from the
yield curve to ensure that the liability value for a newly incepted contract is no less than the premium received (afler direct initil costs for the Company
rarketed policies and direct and indirect initial costs for SPF marketed policies). The level of this deduction is desived for cohorts of similer policies. Profits
are recognised over the tem of the contract in line with the release of this margin. A test is performed to ensure that this methodology resuits in a liability
figure at least as large as tha liability calculated using the compulsory margins as set outin SAP104.

3.5. Reinsurance

Liabilities are valued at a gross level before taking reinsurance into account. Where material, the difference between the gross and net {after reinsurance)
value of fiabilities is held as a reinsurance asset. No impairment is currently provided for against the reinsurance asset based on the credit ratings of the
reinsurers,
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Restated
2018 2017
Notes R'000 R'000
ASSETS
Equipment 1. 9,328 14,794
Long-term reinsurance assets 2. 116,629 124,308
nvestments 5,580,808 6,082,011
Investment in subsidiaries 31 1,147 652
Equities and similar securities 32 66,596 77,040
Interest bearing investments 33 1,216,530 1,468,879
Structured transactions 33 536,396 642,204
Investment funds 33 262,860 171,183
Cash, deposits and similar securiies 33 3,497,279 3,722,053
Intercompany loans receivable 4 662 -
Defered tax asset 8 25,213 137,882
Working capital assets 419,782 519,596
Trade and other receivables 5. 29,592 57,294
Cash, deposits and similar securities 390,190 462,302
Total assets 6,152,422 6,878,591
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capitd and premium 6. 200,000 200,000
Other reserve 25,213 137,882
Retained earnings 470,471 567,377
Total equity 695,684 905,259
Long-tetra policy liabilities 5,110,570 5,655,175
Investment contracts 7. 4,689,944 5,179,796
Insurance contracts 7 420,626 475,379
Intercompany lcans payable 9, 57,417 25,450
Working capital ligbilities 288,751 292,707
Trade and other payables 10. 267,565 234,692
Provisions 1. 847 889
Taxation 20,339 57,126
Total liabllities 5,456,738 5,973,332
Total equity and llabllities 6,152,422 6,878,591

1 Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement
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Restated ¥
2018 2017
Notes R'000 R'000
Net Income 1,011,572 1,405,222
Financial services income 12 537,695 746,601
Reinsurance premiums paid 13. {32,818) (32,853)
Reinsurance commission received 13, 12,983 12,622
Investment income 14.1. 471,734 399,955
Investment surpluses 142, 21,978 278,897
Net insurance and investment contract benefits and claims {590,970} {818,840}
Insurance contract benefits 15. (176,111) {231,963)
Investment contract benefits 15. (439,215) (613,368)
Reinsurance claims received 13. 24,956 26,491
420,602 586,382
Expenses {126,996} (123,588)
Sales remuneration {43,081) {45,629)
Administration costs 16. (83,915) (77.759)
Profit before tax 293,606 462,794
Taxation 17. {198,181) (254,285)
Profit after tax 95,425 208,539
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 95,425 208,539

1" Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement
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Share Other reserve Retained
Share capital premium w carnings Total equity
Notes R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R000

Balance at 1 January 2017 10,694 189,206 255,392 463,328 918,720
Profit for the year - - - 208,539 208,529
Dividends declared 19. . - - (222,000) (222,000)
Transfer to / (from) other reserve '* . - {117,510 117,510 -
Balance at 31 December 2017 10,694 189,306 137,882 567,377 905,259
Profit for the year - - - 95,425 95,425
Dividends declared 19, - - - (305,000} (305,000)
Transfer to/ {from) other reserve - - {112,669) 112,669 -
Balance at 31 December 2018 10,694 189,306 25213 470,471 695,684

™ Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement
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Restated
2018 2017
Notes R'000 R'0C0
Cash flow generated / (ulilised) from operating activities ' (72,112) 164,571
Cash genersted by operalions 231, {116,547) 85,456
Interest received 14.1. 466,497 395,284
Dividends received 141 5237 4,671
Dividends paid {305,000) (222,000)
Taxation paid 232 (122,299) {98,840)
Cash flow from investing activities ") - -
Net increase/(decrease] in cash and cash equivalents 72113 164,51
Cash, deposits and similar securities at beginning of year 233 462,302 207,731
Cash, deposlits and similar securities at end of year 390,190 462,302

1} Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement
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Computer Motor Office furniture
equipment vehicles and equipment Total
1. Equipment R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 84 11,050 3,660 14,794
Cost 6,501 21,639 11,785 39,925
Accumulated depreciation {6,417} {10,589) (8,125) (25,131}
Additions and expenditure capitalised 120 - - 120
Disposals - (809) m (810}
Cost - 4,231) (12) (4,243)
Accumulated depreciation - 3422 1 3433
Depreciation {mn {4,082) {617) {4.776)
Balance at the end of the year 127 6,159 3,042 9,328
Cost 6,621 17,408 11,773 35,802
Accumulated depreciation (6,494) {11,249) {8,731) {26,474)
2017
Balance at the beglnning of the year 112 12,498 3921 16,931
Cost 6,763 19,311 11,346 37,420
Accumulated depreciation (6,651) {6,813} (7,425) (20,889)
Additions and expenditure cepitalised 18 2512 439 2,969
Disposals - (101} e {101)
Cost {280) (184) - {464)
Accumutated deprecialion 280 a3 - 363
Depreciation (45) (3,859) {700) {4,605)
Balance at the end of the year 84 11,050 3,660 14,794
Cost 6,501 21,639 11,785 39,925
Accumulated depreciation {6,417) (10,589) (8,125) {25,131)
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2018 2017
2 Long-term Reinsurance Assets R'000 R'000
Balance at the beginning of the year 124,308 125,845
Movement in reinsurers' share of insurance liabilities (7.679) {1,537)
Movement in policyholder ligbiliies {7,001) (1,456)
Movement in IBNR (678) (61)
Balance at end of year 116,629 124,308
0to 1 year 1to Syears > 5years Open ended Total
Maturity analysis of long-term reinsurance assets R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018 16,941 30,604 66,676 2,408 116,629
31 December 2017 19,094 20,490 73,248 2476 124,306
3 Investments 2018 2017
31 Investment in subsldiaries R'000 R'000
Channel Management Services (Pty) Ltd
10 000 000 ordinary shares of R0.01 each, at fair value, representing 100% of the issued share capital of the company 1,147 652
Total investment In subsidiaries 1,147 652
Balance at the beginning of the year 652 652
Fair value adjustment 495 -
Total Investment in subsidiaries 1147 652
32 Equitles and similar securities
Equities and similar securities - Listed 66,596 77,040
66,595 77,040

Total equitles and simllar securlties
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3 Investments (continued)
33 Investments other than aquities and simliar securities {continued)

Maturity analysis of investments other 0to 1 year 1to 5 years > 5 years Open ended Total
than equitles and similar securliles R'000 R'00D R'00D R'000 R°000

31 December 2018

Interest bearing investments 377,460 757,555 81,516 - 1,216,530
Government interest bearing investments 32,519 211,974 10,074 - 254,566
Corporate interest bearing investments 344,941 545,561 71,442 - 961,964

Structured transactions - 536,396 - - 536,396

Investment funds - - - 262,860 262,860

Cash, deposits and similar securities 1,806,806 1,690,473 - - 3,497,279

Total investments other than
equities and similar securities 2,184,266 2,984,424 81,516 262,860 5513065

31 December 2017

Interest bearing investments 608,448 776,575 83,856 - 1,468,879
Government interest bearing investments 24,247 190,859 10,502 - 225,639
Corporate interest bearing investments 584,201 585,686 73,353 - 1,243,240

Structured transactions 186,799 455,405 - - 642,204

Investment funds V) - 5 - 171,183 171,183

Cash, deposits and similar securities 622,964 3,099,089 - - 3,722,053

Total investments other than
equities and similar securities 1.418,211 4,331,069 83,856 171,183 6,004,319

) Investment funds are classified as open ended. Assets are considered open ended when they heve no fixed maturity date or regularly traded to meet
liquidity requirements.

Total non Effect of an 1%
linked equity increase/decrease In equity

exposure prices on canrying value
Equity price risk sensitivity R'000 +H% 1%
31 December 2018
Equities and similar securities 61,208 612 (612)
Investment funds 53,404 534 {534)
Structured transactions 5 & 4
Total 114,612 1,146 {1,146)
31 December 2017
Equities and similar securities 71,749 M7 {717)
Investment funds 51.906 §19 {519)
Structured transactions (56) )] 1

Total 123,599 1,235 {1.235)
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3 Investments (continued)
34, Fair value disclosures

Valuation techniques used in determining the fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value.

Slgnificant
Applicable Unobservable
Instrument to level Valuation basls Main assumptions input

|Investment in subsidiaries 2.3 Group Equity Value, Net Asset Value Bond and interbank swep interest rate curve, Costof | Cost of capital
and associates (NAV) Capital, Consumer price index

Interest-bearing 2 Discounted cash flow model (DCF}, Bond and interbank swep interest rate curve, n/a
investments {including Quoted pul/surrender price by issuer Consumer price index

insurance policies)

Structured transactions 2 Quoted (exit) price provided by fund |n/a wa

and investment funds manager

Investment contract 2 Current unit price of underlying unitised |Bond and interbank swap interest rate curve, na
|liabiliies financial asset, multiplied by the number |Consumer price index

of units held Bond interest rate curve
Cash, deposits and similar 2 Discounted cash flow model (DCF) Bond and interbank swap interest rate curve wa
securities
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Fair value hierarchy R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

3 December 2018

Investment in subsidiaries and associated companies - - 1,147 1,147
Equities and similar securities 65,596 - - G6,596
Interest bearing investments 223,564 992,966 - 1,216,530
Structured transactions 702,800 (166,404) - 536,396
Investment funds 256,000 6,852 - 262,860
Cash deposits and similar securities - 3,497,279 - 3,497,279
Total investments at fair value 1,248,068 4,330,693 1,147 5,580,808
Investment contract fiabilities - 4,689,944 - 4,689,944
Total liabilites at fair value . 4,689,944 - 4,689,944
' Sinyctured transactions includes net derivative lisbilities

31 December 2017

Investment in subsidiaries and associated companies - - 652 652
Equities and similar securiies 71,040 - - 77,040
Interest bearing investments 201,392 1,267,487 - 1,468,879
Structured transactions 653,348 (11,144) - 642,204
Investment funds 125,305 45,878 - 171,183
Cash deposits and similar securities 91,932 3,630,121 - 3,722,053
Total investments at fair velue 1,149,017 4,932,342 652 6,082,011
Investmient contract tiabilities - 5,179,796 - 5,179,796

Total liabilities at fair velue - 5,179,796 - 5,179,796
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3 Investments (continued) 2016 2017
34. Falr value disclosures {continuad) R'000 R'000

Reconciliation of movement in Level 3 financid instruments measured at fair value.

Financial asseis

Investment in subsidianes

Balance at the beginning of the year 652 652
Total {lossYgainin statement of comprehensive income - Investment surplus 495 -
Balance at end of year 1,147 652
Gains and losses (realised and unreallsed) included In profit or loss
Total unrealised gains or losses included in profit or loss for the period for

assels held at the end of the reporting period 495 -

Interest-bearing
Investments

Transfers between categories R'000

Financial assets

31 December 2018
Transfer from Level 1 to Level 2
Transfer from Level 2 to Level 1

31 December 2017
Transfer from Level 1to Level 2
Transfer from Level 2 to Level 1

Investments traded in a market that became inactive during the year have been transfered from Level 1 to Level 2. Conversely, investments fraded in a

market that became active have been transferred from Level 2 to Level 1.
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2018 2017

4 Intercompany loans receivable R'000 R'000

Sanlam Developing Markets Limited Subsidiary of holding company 662 -

Total intercompany loans 662 -

Analysis of intercompany loans:

Current 662 -

Total intercompany lcans 662 -

These loans are unsecured and payable on demand. No interest is charged but these amangements are subject to revision from time to ime. The fair value of
inter-company leans is epproximated by its carnrying amount.

ECLon
financial assets
Gross at amortised Net amortised  Non-financial

Fair value  amorfised cost cost cost instruments Total
5, Trade and other receivables R'ood R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018
Premiums receivable - 10,389 - 10,389 - 10,389
Accrued investment income 12,348 - - - - 12,348
Amounts due from reinsurers - 3,006 - 3,896 - 3,896
Accounts receivable 527 2,633 (201} 2432 - 2,959
Total trade and other receivables 12,875 16,918 (201} 16,717 - 29,592
31 December 2017
Premiums receivable 16,351
Accrued investment income 11,525
Amotints due from reinsurers 4410
Accounts receivable 25,008
Total trade and other receivables 57,294

2018 2017
Classification of trade and other recelvables; R'000 R'000
Fair value through profit or loss 12,875
Mandatorily measured et fair value through profit or loss (10,435) -
Designated al fair value through profit or loss ™ 23,310 -

Amortised cost 16,717 87,294
Total trade and other receivables 29,592 67,294

) The amount of change, dunng the penod and cumulatively, in the far value of assets designated at farr value through profit or loss that 15 attnbutsble to changes in credil nsk of the finanaal
assel is delermined as the change nggered by factors other than changes in the benchmark interest rate. The impact of the changes in credit risk for 2017 and 2018 was nol matenal

The fair value of trade and other receivables is approximated by its camrying amount. No trade and other receivables of the Company were pledged as
collateral, Alf trade and other receivables are expected to be received within one year.
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5 Trade and other recelvables {continued)
2018
Reconcillation of expected credit losses R'000
Accounts receivable
Balance et the beginning of the year -
IFRS transitional adjustments (31,324)
Net measurement of loss allowance {201)
Balance st the end of the year {31,525)
Expected credit losses have been provided as follows:
Commission receivable {included in accounts receivable}:
- 50% of commission receivabla iro active tied agents;
- 50% of commission receivable iro active sales representatives,
- 100% of commission receivable iro inactive sales representatives; and
- Broker commission receivable is based on the debtors which amount due is higher than net present value of unearned commission:
- Target of 83% s set &s standard provision for brokers whose outstanding balance is higher than the value of unearnad commission
- 100% of the outstanding amount for terminated brokers with higher risk assessment as determined by the Company.
2018 2017
6. Share capital and premium f'000 R'000
Share capital
Authorised
900 million ordinary shares of R0.0175 each 15,750 15,750
Issued
611 077 563 ordinary shares issued of R0.0175 each 10,694 10,694
Share premium 189,306 189,306
Total issued share capital and share premlum 200,000 200,000
Insurance Investment
1. Long-term policy liabllities contracts contracts Total
71 Analysis of movement in pollcy liabilities R'000 R'000 R'000
31 December 2018
Income 516,567 500,587 1,026,154
Premium income (note 7.2.) 499,094 10372 569,466
Investment refurn 17.413 439215 456 688
Outflow (563,642) {994.801) (1,558,443)
Policy benefits (note 7.3.) (96,371) (942.479) (1,038,850)
Fees, risk premiums and other payments to shareholders’ fund (note 12) (467,271) (52,322} {519.593)
Maovement in reinsurance assets {7.678) . (7.678)
Movement in partial surenders - {4.638) (4,638)
Nat movemant for the yeer (54,753) (489.852) {544,605)
Balance at beginning of year 476,379 5,179,796 5,655,175
Balance at end of year 420,626 4,689,944 5110570




Channel Life Limited
Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2018 43 | Page
Insurance Investment

T Long-term policy liabilitles (continued) contracts contracts Total

FAN Analysls of movement in policy liabilitles (continued) R'000 R'000 R'000

31 December 2017

Income 622,568 656,847 1,279,415
Premium income {note 7.2.) 585,083 43,479 628,562
Investment return 37,485 613,368 650,853

Outflow (651.424) (766,879) (1,438,303}
Policy benefits (note 7.3.) (66,383) {649,555) {715,938)
Fees, risk premiums and other payments to shareholders' fund (note 12.) {685,041) (137,324) {722,365)

Movement in reinsurance assets (1,537) - {1,537)

Movement in partiel surrenders - - -

Net movement for the year (30,393) {130,032) (160,425)

Belance at beginning of year 505,772 5,309,828 5,815,600

Balance at end of year 475379 5,179,796 5,655,175

2018 2017

72 Analysis of premium Income R'000 R'000

Individual business 669,424 624,942
Recuming 499,049 561,463
Single - 352
Continuations 70,375 43127

Employee benefits business 42 3,620
Recuming 42 3,620

Total premium income 569,466 628,562

7.3 Analysis of long-term policy benefits

Individual business (1,038,850} (715,938)
Maturity benefits (888,524} {525,816)
Surmenders (120,598} {163,946)
Life and term annuities {176) 8
Death and disability benefits - (50}
Cash bonuses (29,552} {26,135)

Total policy benefits (1,038,850} {715,938)




Channel Life Limited
Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2018 44 | Page
T Long-term policy llabllities (continued) 2018 2017
74, Compasition of policy ilabilites R'000 R'000
Individual business 5,089,092 5,628,772
Risk business {including inwards reinsurance) 195,969 232,429
Investments 4,764,167 5,257,465
Linked business 61,539 103,527
Business with no investment guarantees 136,534 98,619
Smoothed bonus 2077 2033
Fully guaranieed business 4,564,017 5,053,286
Life Annuities 1,952 2,090
Combined policies 127,004 136,788
Employee benefits business 21,478 26,403
Risk business {including inwards reinsurance] 21,478 26,403
Total policy liabilities 5,110,570 5,655,175
The composition of policy liabifities have been aligned with the new solvency regime compositions, Prior year have been reclessified accordingly.
15 Maturity analysis of investment 0to 1year 1to Syears > §years Open ended Total
policy contracts R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
3{ December 2018
Investments - 4570,194 64,388 55,362 4,689,944
Linked business - . 61,539 61539
Business with na investment guarantees - 64,388 - 64,380
Fully guaranteed business 4,570,194 - (6177} 4,564,017
Total investment palicy contracts 4,570,194 64,88 55,362 4,689,944
31 December 2017
Investments 39,340 5,053,286 22,983 64,187 5,179,796
Linked business 39,340 - - 64,187 103,527
Business with no investment guarantees - - 22,983 - 22,983
Fully guaranteed business 5,053,286 . - 5,053,286
Total investment policy confracts 39,340 5,063,206 22,983 64,187 5,179,796

Investment policy contracts are classified as at fair value through profit or loss.
The composition of investment policy contracts have been aligned with the new solvency regime compositions. Prior year have been reclassified accordingly.
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7. Long-term policy liabilities {continued)

7.6, Maturily analysis of Insurance 0to1{ year 1to Syears > 5 years Open ended Total

policy contracts R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

31 December 2018

Risk business {including inwards reinsurance) 13,568 41,366 61,092 101,421 217,447

Investments 18,539 49,483 3,795 2,406 74223
Business with no investment guarantees 18,539 49,483 3,795 329 72,146
Smoothed bonus - - - 2077 2077

Life Annuities - - - 1,952 4,952

Combined policies 18,108 28,662 17,925 2,309 127,004

Total insurance policy contracts 50,215 119,511 142,812 108,088 420,626

31 December 2017

Risk businass {including inwards reinsurance) 19,287 51,696 71,287 116,560 258,830

Investments 19,656 46,643 9,007 2,362 71,668
Business with no investment guarantees 19,656 46,643 9,007 329 75,635
Smoothed bonus - - - 2,033 2,033

Life Annuiies - - - 2,090 2,090

Combined policies 19,624 28,478 86,265 2,424 136,791

Total insurance policy contracts 58,567 126,817 166,559 123,436 475,379

These maturity analyses are based on the veluation bases and methodolegy set out in note 3. of the accounting policies,

The composition of insurance policy contracts have been aligned with the new solvency regime compositions. Prior year have been reclassified accordingly,

2018 2017
7.7 Policy liabliitles Include: R'000 R'000
Provision for HIV / Aids and other pandemics 69,893 91,204
Capital Gains
Income Tax Tax Total
B. Deferred Tax asset / (liability) R'000 R'000 R'000
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 142,710 {4,828) 137,882
Temporary differences (charged) / credited to statement of comprehensive income (116,716) 4,047 (112,669)
Tax losses and credits (116,716) - (116,716)
Net unrealised investment surpluses on on sharsholders’ fund - 4,047 4,047
Balance at the end of the year 25,994 {781) 25213
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Capital Gains
Income Tax Tax Total
8. Deferred Tax asset / (llability) {continued) R'000 R'000 R'000
2017 restated
Balance at the beginning of the year 258,281 (2,889) 255,392
Temporary differences {charged) / credited to statement of comprehensive income (115,571%) {1,939) {117,510}
Tax losses and credits {115,571) - {115,571)
Net unrealised investmant suplusas on on sharsholders’ fund - {1,939} (1,939)
Balance at the end of the year 142,710 (4,828) 137,882
" Refer to nole 25 for details on the restatement
Analysis of deferred tax balances R'000 R'000 R'0C0
2018
Tax losses and credits 25,994 - 25,994
Net unrealised investment surpluses - {(781) {781)
Balance at the end of the year 25,994 (781) 25,213
2017 restated
Tax losses and credits 142,710 - 142,710
Net unrealised investment surpluses - {4,828) (4,828)
Balance at the end of the year 142,710 (4.826) 137,882

'} Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement

8.1. Deferred tax assets raised in respect of palicyholder funds

The taxation of risk business written by the Company was amended through the introduction of a separate risk policyholder tax fund (RPF) effective 1 January

2016.

The Company wrote large volumes of risk business in the past which generated a tax loss within the individual policy fund (IPF) on an annusl basis. The level
of the tax loss generated annually by new risk business was of such an extent that it was not considered probable that it would be fully utilised. No defemed
tax asset was therefore recognised in respect of the tex loss, With all new risk business now being written within the RPF, taxable investment income
generaled by savings business remaining within the IPF will in future utilise the available tax loss. The International Financial Reporiing Standards {IFRS)
requirement for the recognition of a deferred tax asset in respect of the tax loss is therefore met, with an emount of R255 million recognised in 2016.The
recognition of the ssset in respect of the policyholder fund did not result in @ similar increase in investment contract liabilities in terms of IFRS, causing a
mismatch between policyholder assets and liabilities. This mismaich is recognised in the other reserve, with movements in the mismatch included in the

taxation line in the income statement. The utilisetion of this asset in the current financial year were R113 million (2017: R118 million).

2018 2017
9, Intercompany payable R000 R'000
Senlam Life Insurance Limited Holding company 57,417 25,162
Sanlam Developing Merkets Limited Fellow subsidiary - 268
Total intercompany loans 57,417 25,450
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2018 2017

9, Intercompany payable (continued) R'000 R'000

Analysis of intercompany loans:

Current 57417 25,450

Total intercompany |oans 57.417 25,450

These amounts are classified as loans and payables. These loans are unsecured and payable on demand. No interest is changed but these arangements are

subject to revision from time to time, The fair value of intercompany loans is spproximated by its camying amount.

10, Trade and other payables

Accounts payable 80,991 67,256
Policy benefits payable 172,505 153,307
Amounts due to reinsurers 739 8
Operating lease creditor 139 -
Claims incumred but not reported 13,191 14,121
Total trade and other payables 267,565 234,692
Classificatlon of trade and other payables:

Amortised cost 254,235 234,692
Non-financial instrument "/ 13,330 -
Totdl trade and other payables 267,565 234,692

1 Non-financial nstruements include fisbilty for share based payments. operating lease creditor, mcume recenved in sdvance and claims incumed but not reported.

The fair value of trade and other payables is approximated by its camying amount. With the exception of the liabity for share based payments, trads and other
payables are paysble within one year. In respect of the liability for the share based payments, the amounts outstanding are payable over five years, however

weighted towards three to five years. The effect of discounting is considered immaterial

Bonus
provision Other Total
1. Provislons R'000 R'000 R'000
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 639 250 889
Charged lo slatement of comprehensive incorme (217) 175 (42}
Additional provisions 632 600 1,232
Unused amounts reversed 22 - 22
Utilised during the year (871) (425) (1,296)
Balance at the end of the year 422 425 847
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Bonus
provision Other Total
1". Provisions {continued) R'000 R000 R'000
2017
Balance at the beglnning of the year 607 150 757
Charged to statement of comprehensive income 32 100 132
Additicnal provisions 908 100 1,008
Balance at the end of the year 639 250 869
2018 2017
Analysis of provisions: R'000 R'000
Current 847 889
Total provisions 847 889
1. Provisions {continued)

Bonus provision
This provision relates to bonus payments to staff.

Other provislon

Includes sundry provision for possible outflows arising from past events. The timing cf settlement cannot reascnably be determined but the amount can be

reliably estimated.
2018 2017
12, Financial services income R'000 R'000
Long term insurance gross of reinsurance {note 7.1.) 519,593 722,365
Long term insurance {net of reinsurance) 486,775 669,512
Reinsurance premiums 32,818 32,853
Other financial services income 18,102 24,236
Total financial services income 537,695 746,601
Analysis per revenue category
Long-term insurance fee income 519,593 722,365
Other financial services income 18,102 24,236
Working capital 2,992 1,822
Funeral Parlour 14,411 16,212
Other 699 202
Total financial services income 537,695 746,601
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12 Financial services income (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue
South Africa Rest of Afica  Other International Total

According to primary geography R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
IFRS 15 Revenus 32,000 - - 32,000

Administration fees 32,000 . - 32,000
Revenue not within the scope of IFRS 15 505,695 - - -
Tota! financial services income 537,695 - - 537,695

At a pointin Notin the scope of
time Over time IFRS 15 Total

According to timing of revenue recognition R'¢00 R'000 R'000
IFRS 15 Revenus 1,770 30,230 - 32,000

Administration fees 1,770 30,230 - 32,000
Revenue not within the scope of IFRS 15 - - 505,695 505,695
Totat financial services income 1,770 30,230 505,695 537,695

2018 2017

13. Reinsurance R000 /000
Reinsurance premium pald
Long-term insurance {32,818) (32,853)
Total reinsurance premium paid (32,818) {32,853)
Relnsurance commisslon received
Long-term insurance 12,983 12,622
Total reinsurance claims received 12,983 12,622
Reinsurance claims received
Long-term insurance 24,956 26,491
Total reinsurance claims received 24,956 26,491
14, Investment return
14.1.  Investmentincome
Equities and similar secunties 5,237 4671
Interest-bearing preference shares and similar securities 466,497 395,284
Total investment income 471,734 399,955
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2018 2017

14.2.  Investment surpluses / (losses) R'000 R'000

Financial assets designated as &t fair value through profit or loss 41,946 278,897

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss (19,968) -

Total investment surpluses 21,978 278,897

15. Long-term investment and Insurance contract benefits

[nsurance contracts {176,711) (231,963)
Net underwriting policy benefits (134,282) (167,987}
After tax investment return attributable to insurance contract liabilities (note 7.1.) (17.473) {37,485)
Reinsurance claims received {24,956) {26,491}

Investment contracts {439,215) (613,368)
After tax investment retum attributable fo investment contract liabiliies (note 7.1.} (439,215) {613,368)

Total Long-term investment and insurance contract benefits (615,926) {845,331}

Analysis of gross underwriting policy henefits:

Individual life (159,246) (184,725)

Employee benefits 8 (9,753)

Total gross underwriting policy benefits (159,238} (194,478}

16. Administration costs

Administration costs include:

Auditors' remuneration 6,376 6,234
Audit fees: statutory audit 6,376 6,234
Other services provided S 5

Depreciation property and equipment {note 1.) 4776 4,605

Operating leases - Properties 8,257 8,442

Consullancy fees 457 710

Employee benefits 12,585 12,851
Salaries and other short-term benefits 12,252 12,391
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 333 460
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Restated
2018 2017
17. Taxation R'000 R'000

Analysis of income tax per category:

Normal income tax {85,515) (136,745)
RSA nomal incoma taxetion {85,515) (136,745)
Deferred tax (112,666) (117.510)
Nermal tax (116,713} {115,571)
Capital gains tax 4,047 (1,939)
Tax (incoms) / expense {198,181) {254,255)

) Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement

The Company's income tax is determined on the five funds basis applicable to companies conducting fife insurance business. The fifth fund (Risk Policy Fund
- RPF) became effective 1 January 2016. All new risk products are required to be allocated to the RPF.

The income tax charge relates to the shargholders' fund where the Company does not have any assessed losses. The Company has a tax loss of RE7 million
(2017 R464 million} in the policyholders' fund, of which the fult amount has been recognised as a defemred tax asset. Tha build-up of further assessed losses
within the IPF has largely been eliminated by the creation of the Risk Policy Fund {RPF) and the investment return earned by the investments underlying the
investment policies should fully utilise the portion of the cument calculated tax loss recognised as a deferred tax asset over fme.

Reconclliation of taxation attributable to shareholders

Profit before tax 293,606 462,794
Standard tax rate 28% 28%
Standard rate of taxation (82,210) (129,582}
Adjusted for:
Disallowable expenses {3,175) (7.679)
Investment surpluses 155 329
Fund transfer (movement in deferred tax assels not previously recognised) '*! (112,669) (117,510)
Utlisation of tax loss 241 619
Withholding tax {523) {432)
Effective tax (198,181} (254,255)

0 Refer to note 25 for detals on the restatement

18. Commitments

Operating lease commitments
The business has the following future operating lease commitments:

Lease rentals due within one year 6,960 6,417
Lease rentals due within two to five years 7,828 10,093
Total operating lease commitments 14,808 16,510

All operating lease commitments are in respect of property leased by our distribution and service centres. These are in excess of 50 different leases. The
duration of these leases ranges from 3 to 5 years on average. Annual escalation of these leeses varies based on location from a CPl to CPI plus increase (6%
to 10%). The full details of ll the leases are kept by Saniam Group Facilities and the Finance department.
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19. Dividends

In 2018 a dividend of R305 million {2017: R222 million) was declared and paid. Subsequent to 31 December 2018 a dividend of R181m was dsclared on 21
February 2019.

20, Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of financia reporfing and as such have an impact on the amounts reported for the Company's essels and
liabilities. Management applies judgement in determining best estimates of future experience. These judgements ere based on historical experience and
reasonable expectations of future events and changes in experience, Estimates and assumptions are regulardy updated to reflect actual experience. It is
reasonably possible that outcomes in future financial years will be different to the cumrent assumptions and judgements, which could require a material
adjustment to the carrying emounts of the affected assets and liabilities.

The major items subject to the epplication of estimates, assumptions and judgements include:
+ The fair value of investments - note 3;
+ The vauation of policy liabilities - note 7., 20.1.

The criical estimates and judgements made in applying the Company's accounfing policies are summarised below. Given the comrelation between
assumptions, it is not possible to demonstrate the effect of changes in key assumptions whilst other assumptions remain unchanged. Further, in some
instances the sensitivites are nondinear. Interdependencies hetwsen ceriain assumptions cannet be quentified and are accordingly net included in the
sensitivity analyses; the primary example being the re!ationship between economic conditions and lapse, surrender and paid-up risks.

An important indicator of the accuracy of assumptions used by a life insurance company is the extent of the experience variations reflected in the Group Equity
Velue earnings during a period.

20.1.  Policy liablities In raspact of long-term insurance contracts and investment contracts

This disclosure should be read in conjunction with the valuation methodology as setin the accounting policies for policy liabilities on pages 25 to 27.

The following process is followed to detesmine the valuation assumptions:
* Determine the best estimate for a particutar assumption.
+ Prescribed margins are then applied as specified in SAP104,

* Discretionary margins may be applied as required by the valuation methodology or if the Head of Actuarial Function considers such margins necessary to
cover the nisks inherent in the confracts.

The best estimate of future experience is determined as follows:

a) lnvestment refum

Economic assumptions are derived with reference to the yield al the veluation date on the risk free yield curve at duration consistent with that of the liabilities.
The duration of the yield curve used was 5 years (2017: 5 years). The appropriate assel composition of the various asset pertfolios, investment management
expenses, laxes at cument tax retes and charges for investment guarantees are taken into sccount in determining the valuation discount rate for each
portialio. The assumptions adopted allow for the current and expected future tax position of the Company.

The economic assumptions are as follows: 2018 2017
* Fixed inferest 8.60% 8.00%
+ Equifies 12.10% 11.50%
* Property 9.60% 9.00%
+ Cash 7.60% 7.00%

Expense inflation is also based on the fixed interest yield and is assumed to be 6.6% (2017: 6%).
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20 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
201, Policy liabilitles in raspect of long-tarm Insurance contracts and investment contracts (continued)

b)  Future bonus rales for paricipaling business

Assumed future bonus rates are determined to be consistent with the assumed investment returns.

¢) Decremenls

Demographic assumptions including mortality, morbidity and persistency rates are derived directly from recent experience and are adjusted for anticipated
future trends.

Investigations are performed at least annually and the most recent investigations were performed in June 2018. The future development of AIDS mortality is
projected in line with the requirements of APN 105 of the Actuarial Society,

dl  Expenses

Future expenses are projected on a per policy basis where the per-policy expense is derived from the higher of budget 2019 expenses and ectual 2018
expenses and deflated/escalated at the assumed expense inflation rate. Renewal expenses are determined by removing acquisition costs and non-recurting
expenses from the total expenses and adding an allowance for future project costs which is derived from an analysis of historical once-off costs.

e} Maryins

Compulsory margins
SAP104 requires that the following compulsory margins should be added to the best estmate assumptions for determining the policyholder hiabifities.

Assumption Margin

Mortality 71.5% (increase for assurance, decrease for annuities)

Morbidity 10%

Medical 15%

Lapse 25% (e.g. if the best estimate is 10%, the margin is 2.5%)

Disability income benefits in payment 10%

Sumenders 10% (increase or decrease, depending on which alternative increases policyholder liabilites)

Expenses 10%

Expense inflation 10% (of estimated escalation rate)

Charge against investment retum 25 basis points in the management fee or an equivalent asset-based or investment
performance-based margin

Discrationary mamgins

Future voluntary premium increases are profitable and are therefore ignored in line with SAP 104. In order to ensure appropriate recognition of profit over the
life of @ contract, no policy is permitted to have an overall negafive lisbility. No other discretionary margins are added.

2. Retirement benefits obligations

The Company provides for the retirement banefits for full-tme employees by means of a defined contribution pension fund
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22, Related parties

Holding company
The ultimate Holding Company is Sanlam Limited. Details of investments in Sanlam Limited are as follows:
2018 2017
No of Shares 22,287 22,493
Fair value (R'000) 1,901 1,857

Transactions with entities in the Sanlam Group

During the yeer, the Company | in the ordinary course of business, entered into various transactions with subsidiary companies, associated companies and
other stakeholders, Refer below for delal balances and transactions with related parties.

2018 a7
R'000 R'000
Nature of the transactlon Related party Debit/(Credit) Debif{Credit)
Administraion fees Sanlam Developing Markets Limited '=! 5,043 10,124
Nature of the transaction Related party
Intercompany: Loan receivable/(payable) Sanlam Developing Merkets Limited 662 (288)
Intercompany: Loan payable Sanlam Life Insurance Limited ™ (57.417) {25,162)
™ Holding company
) Feliow subsidiary

Transactions with directors

Remuneration is paid to directors in the form of faes to non-axecutive direclors who are not also Sanlam Group execulives and in the form of remuneration to
execulive directors of the Company. Non-executive directors who are also Sanlam Group executives are paid in the form of remuneration within the Sanlam
Group. All directors of the Company have nofified that they did not have a material interest in any contract of significance with the Company or any of s
subsidiaries, which could have given rise 1o a conflict of interest during the period, with the exception of contracts within the Sanlam Group. Details refaling fo
directors’ emoluments are included in note 16.1.
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2, Notes to the statement of cash flows 2018 2017
231, Cash generated/ utiiised by operations 7 R'000 R'000
Profit before fax per statement of comprehensive income 293,606 462,794
Movement on long term policy contracts {544,605) {160,425)
Non-cash flow items {17,244 (274,160)
Depreciation 1. 4,776 4,605
Movement in provisions {42) 132
Investment surpluses 142 (21,979 (278,8097)
items disclosed separately (471,734 (399,955)
Interest received 14.1. (466,497) {395,284)
Dividends received 14.1. {5,237) (4,671)
Increase f (decrease) in intercompany loans receivable (662) 3844
Increase / [decrease) in intercompany loans payable 31,967 20,951
Increase / (decrease) in net working capital assets and liabilities 60,575 {14,092)
Net acquisition of investments 530,860 449,367
Net acquisition of fixed assets 1. 690 {2,868)
Cash generated / jutilised) by operations {116,547} 85,456
") Refer to note 25 for details on the restatement
232 Reconciliation of taxation paid
Movement between taxation balance at the beginning of the year and balance at end of year (36,787) 37,905
Less moverent for normal taxation through the income statement (85,512) {136,745)
Taxation paid (122,299) {98,840)
23.3.  Cash, deposits and similar securities
Working capital: Cash, depesits and similar securities 340,190 452,302
Total cash, deposits and similar securities 390,190 462,302

24, Adoption of new standards

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

The principles with regards to the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabifities, measuring impairment allowances for financial sssets, and
hedge accounting have been amended due to the implementation of the new accounting standard, IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, applicable {o all accounting
pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Company has implemented the standard, other than the hedging provisions which have not yet been
adopted, on & modified retrospective basis and therefore comparatives are not restated and the impact of the adopfion is recognised in equity on 1 January

2018,

The key changes introduced by IFRS 9 are as follows:

Classification and measurement ~ financial assets are required to be measured and classified based on the cash flow characteristics of the instrument

and the business model under which the asset is managed. The classification and measurement of financial liabilities is largely unchanged, with the
exceplion of the amendment requiring that the own credit risk component of fair value movements on lisbilities designated at fair value through profit or

loss now be presented in other comprehensive income.

» |mpaiment — IFRS 9 introduces an expected credit loss medel. This entails the recognition of an allowance for expected credit loss looking one yearinto

the future or over the lifefime of the financial asset if the credit risk.
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24, Adoption of new standards (continued)

The majority of financial assets were measured at fair value through profit and loss under 14539, and continue to be under IFRS 9, either because they are
mandatornly measured as such, or through designation,

The Compeny has assessed the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 financial instruments on ils statement of financial position and concluded that there is no
material impact for the Company.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard relates to the measurement, classification and disclosure of revenue from contracts with customers of the Company.

The key factors in the application of IFRS 15 are as follows.
+ Afive-siep model is applied to determine when to recognise revenue from contracts with customers, and at what amount.

+ Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance ohligation and transfers confrol of goods or services to a customer at the
amount to which the Company expects to be entitied and that is allocated to that specific performance obligation.

» Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time, as or when control of the goods or senvices is
transfesred to the customer.

+ More extensive and detailed disclosure are required in terms of IFRS 15.

The Company has assessed (he impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 on opening relained eamings and concluded that there is no quantitative impact for the
Company.

25. Restatements

25.1.  Correction of prior period error
During the period, we discovered the tax treatment of interest were not processed comectly. This resulted in an overstalement of the deferred tax asset in
2017.

The emor has been corrected by retrospectively restating the comparative period’s statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity.

As previously
reporied 2017  Adjustment2017  Restated

Impact of restatement R'000 R'000 R'0CD
Statement of financial position

Deferred tax asset 170,118 {32,436) 137,882
Other reserve 170,318 {32,436) 137,862

Statement of comprehensive income
Taxation (221,819) (32,436} (254,255)

Statement of changes in equity
Other reserve 170,318 {32,436) 137,882
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25, Restatements (continued)

25.2.  Restatement of company cash flow statement

Management reassessed the presentation of the Company's cash flow statement in respect of cash flows relating to the acquisition and disposal of
investments, intercompany loans payable, intercompany loans receiveble, fixed and intangible assets that are backing its core operations. These were
previously classified as investing cash flows and crealed a disconnect between operating and investing cash flows, as these are funded by cash flows
associated with the origination of insurance and investment contracts, which are respectively treated as operating cash flows. Management concluded that
presenting acquisitions and disposals of investments, intercompany loans paysble, intercompany loans receivable, fixed end intangible assets as part of
operating cash flows more accurately reflects to the users of the financial statements, the link between the ability to generate cash from investment and
insurance contracts and the utiisation of those cash flows on various investments, fixed and intangible essets.

2017
As previously
reported Adjustments Restated

Impact of restatement R'000 R'000 R'000
Cash flows from operating activities {306,722) 411,293 164,571
Cash flows from investing activities 471,293 (471,293 -

Net acquisition of investments 449,366 (449,366) -

Purchases of equipment (2,969) 2,969 -

Disposel of equipment 10 (101} -

Decrease in intercompany loans receivable 3,556 {3,556) -

Increase / {decrease) in intercompany loans payeble 21,239 {21,239)

The above restatement did not have any impact on the Company's statement of financid position, statement of comprehensive income and statement of
changes in equity
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Capltal Management Report
1. Objective

Responsible capital management and sllocation is an essential component of meeting the Company's stralegic objective of shared value creation for all
stakeholders, including maximising shereholder value. The capital value used by the Company as the primary performance measurement base is Group
Equity Value [GEV). The management of the Company's capilal base requires & continuous review of optimal capital levels, including the use of altemative
sources of funding, to maximise retum on GEV (RoGEV) and ensure appropriate solvency levels as a safeguard to our clients, regulators and broader society.
The Company has an integrated capitel and risk management spproach. The amount of capital required by the verious business is directly linked to their
exposure o financial and operational risks. Accordingly, risk management is an important component of responsible capital management and allocation.

2 Capital allocation methodology

The methodology used to determine the allocation of required capilal to South African covered business is aligned with the new Prudential Standards, which
replaced the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) regime from 1 July 2018.

At the end of 2018 the Company set an appropriate level of required capital for Channel Life Limited's covered business under the Prudential Standards,
based on a Standard Formula Solvency Capital Requirement {SCR) targeted cover range of between 170% and 210% over a 10-year projection peficd. The
revised approach remains aligned with the overarching principle to set the level and nalure of the supporting capital taking cognisance of minimum regulatory
capital requirements, as well as econosmic, risk and growth considerations.

The Company's approach to ensure appropriate working capital levels in these operations is twofold:
* The Company’s internal dividend policy is based on the annual declaration of all discretionary capital to shareholders that is not required for normal
operaticns or expansion; and

* Performance largets are set for company based on an expectad return on the fair value of the businesses, equal to their internal hurdle rates. This
ensures that all non-productive working capital is declared as a dividend to the sharsholders.

3 Caplial management

a1 Covered businass (life insurance operations)

The Company's covered business requires significantly higher levels of allocated capitai then the other operations. The cptimisation of long term required
capital is accordingly & primary focus area of the Company's capital management philosophy given the significant potential to enhance shareholder value,
while mainteining appropriate solvency levels. The following main strategies are used to achigve this objective:
* Appropriate matching of assels and liabfites for policyholder solutions. This is especially important for long-duration policyholder solutions thet expose
the company to inferest rate risk, such as nonparticipating annuities.
+ Dus regard is given to liquidity risk management, particular where derivatives are utilised for matching purposes.
The asset mix of the long-term required capital, as well as estate reserves in the policyholder portfolios also impact the overall capital requirement. The
Company's balance sheet management function models the overall risk and expected refum on assels, including the impact on required capital to
determine the optimal asset mix in this regard.
* Utilisaion of capital diversification benefits, when deemed necessary, whereby the capital requirements can be partly covered by investments in other
company operations, within the limits available in the particular regulatory regime.
* Management of operational risk: internal controls and vasious other operationa) risk management processes are used lo reduce operafional risk and
commensurately the allowance for this risk in the calculation of required capital.
« The optimal use of hedges, e.g. the interest rate derivatives cumently in place.
» Efficient selection of reinsurance exposures.

The Company continues to improve and further develop its capital management models and processes in line with international best practice.

32 Other operations

The performance measurement of other operations is based on the return achieved on the fair value of the businesses. Risk-adjusted relum targets are set for
the businesses o ensure that each business units’ return target takes cognisance of the inherent risks of the business. This approach ensures that the
management teams are focused on operational strategies thal will optimise the retum on fair value, thereby contributing to the Company’s main objectve of
optimising RoGEV.
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Capital Management Re continue

4. Sanlam Group Estate commitiee

The Sanlam Group Estate committee, an intemal management commitiee, is responsible for reviewing and overseeing the management of the Group's
shareholders cepital base {inclusive of the estete reserves) in terms of the specific strategies approved by the Board,

5 Discretionary capital

Any capital in excess of requirements, and not optimally utilised, is identified on a continuous basis. The pursuit of structural growth initiatives has been set as
the prefered application of Group capilal, subject to such initiatives yielding the applicable hurdle rate and being complementary 1o or in support of Group
strategy. Any discrelionary capital nol efficiently redeployed will be returned to sharghalders in the most effective form.

6. Capital adequacy

For regulatory purposes, the Company's capital adequacy is assessed under the new Insurance Act and the relevant Prudential Standards, which gave effect
to the Solvency Assessment and Management (SAM) regime from 1 July 2018. Capital adequacy is measured with referance to the standard formula as
specified under the Prudential Standards, this is refesred to as the Solvency Capital Requirement (*SCR").

The following table provides an analysis of the solvency of the Company and quality of Company's capital:

2018 2017

R'000 R'000
Own Funds eligible to meet SCR 1,046,377 1,171,999
SCR 446,687 548,275
Surplus 599,690 623,724
SCR cover 234% 214%
Tier { 1,046,377 1,171,899
Tier 2 . .
Tier3 . .
Total 1,046,377 1,171,999

The valuation of assels and policy liebilities for prudential cepital adequacy under the Prudential Standards is different to the methodelogy for the published
IFRS restlts.
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Capital Management Report {continued)
The following table provides a reconciliation between the IFRS shareholders’ fund for the Company and its SAM Own Funds.
2018 2017
Reconclliation of IFRS Shareholders’ Fund to SAM Own Funds R'000 R'000
IFRS Shareholders' fund 695,684 905,259
Adjustments to IFRS canmying value {69,237) {87,195)
Reinsurance valuation differences (69,237) (87,196)
Adjustments ta policyholder liabilities from move to sclvency basis 445,143 491,818
Liability valuation differences 696,178 748,994
Impact of risk margin {104 849) {99,823)
Increase in net deferred tax lisbilities resulting from liability valuation differances above (146,186} (157,353)
SAM Basic Own Funds 1,071,590 1,308,881
Write down of other reserves (25,213) {137,882)
SAM Own Funds eligible to meet SCR 1,046,377 1,171,999

The graph helow shows the SCR for the Company under SAM. The main contributors to the SCR are market risk and life risk. The main drivers of masket risk
are exposure to financial instruments (especially resulting from future product fee income being linked to policyholder investment portfolios), interast rata
movemenis and the value of investment guarantees. The main drivers of kfe fisk include lapse assumplions, the level of interest rates as well as

moriafitylongevity assumptions.
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Risk Management Report

1. Introduction

Enterprise risk management is the undertaking of risk for reward. A thorough understanding of the risks accepted by & Company in the pursit of its objectives,
togather with the strategies employed to manage thase risks, is thus essential for a proper appreciation of the affairs of the Company.

The management of the Company is committed lo sound enterprise risk management practices. Active rsk swareness and optima! management of risk
exposures are embedded throughout the business.

2. Definitions

Entitles

Sanlam Group Sanlam Limited.

Sanlam Life Ins Ltd Sanlam Life Insurance Limited (registration number: 1998/021121/06)

|Sanlam Life Sanlam Life Insurance which includes only businesses and divisions over which its executive management and the

Sanlam Life Insurance Board exercise management control in terms of @ mandale from Santam Limited.

Sanlam Personal Finance (SPF)

Sanlam Personal Finance Cluster, a division of Sanlam Life. It includes all subsidieries and divisions within its
management controf,

|Channel

Channel Life Limited ("the Company*)

Risk management terms

CRO

[Chief Risk Officer.

ERM

{Enterprise Risk Management, implying the high-level collation of risk management related information and co-
ordination of risk management activities throughout an enterprise, taking into account the comelation and inter-
dependence of different risks. The process should take into account the strategic goals of the organization as a
1whole. as well es the goals of the undedying subsidiaries. Where possible, all risk should be aggregated and
compared with the overall risk appetite of the organization.

Inherent and residual risk

The nel risk exposure can be quantified either inherently or on a residual basis.

*  Inherent valuation: The net expesure (likely impact), without any mitigation or controls in place.

*  Residual valuation: the net exposure, allowing for the effectiveness of the existing controls, as well as
additional risk mitigation actions defined.

KRI's

Key Risk Indicators are indicators of the levels of risks within an organization or within sub-sels of the otganization,
ata specific time, Typically indicative of underlying trends of known or unknown risk experience.

Risk

Risk is inherent in the business of the Company and is defined as the threat that an event or action will adversely
affect the Company’s ebility to achieve ils business objectives, including stralegic, operational, financial and|
compliance objectives, Business risk arises as much from the possibility that opportunities will not be reslised as it
does from the possibility that threats will matesialise.

Three types of risk can be identified:

+  Opportunities: upside risks, or the “offensive” aspects of risks {laoking for opportunities to exploit specific
risks)

*  Hazards: downside risks, or the “defensive™ aspect of risks {focusing on prevention or mitigation of actions
that can generate losses)

* Uncertainties: the volalility espect of risks (manege risk in order to achieve financial performance within
defined ranges),

Risk appetite

This is an overall indication of the level and type of risk that an organization is prepared to accept in the pursuit of its
goals, The risk eppetite can be defined overall for Channel or for the respective business divisions and subsidiaries,
The risk appetite slatement should remain strategic in nature.

Risk incident

The materialising {whether partially or complately) of a risk, whether the risk has already been identified or nol. For
existing risks, related incidents can assist in the quantification of the risk.




Channel Life Limited
Risk Management Report
for the year ended 31 December 2018 64| Page

2 Definitions {continued)

Risk management terms (continued)

Risk tolerance lavels This is the mere tactical interpretation of the sirategic risk eppetite and pravides business with certgin boundaries /
ranges for different risk types. It can be defined either;
*  Qudlitatively: On a relative scale {e.g. high, moderate or low); or
+  Quantitatively: In terms of a quantifiable metric (e.9. s a risk-adjusted sharsholder value, like Retum on
Group Equity value or Risk Adjusted Performance Measurement (RAPM)).
|Emerging risks Emerging risks represent known or unknown risks with a significant potential impect on business, but for which the

likely severity for Channel has not been or is difficull to quantify {either because the likelihood of such an event
occurring is unknown or becausa the full impact of such an event, eccuring, should it materialise, is unknown).

3 Scope and application of the policy
This policy applies to the Company as defined in saction 2 above.

The peficy is aligned with the Sanlam Group Enterprise Risk Management Policy as well as the Sanlam Personel Finance Enterprise Risk Management
Policy as amended from time to time.

Risk management of alt subsidiaries and business units where the Company exercises management control, must edhere to this poficy. In subsidiaries where
the Company does not exert full management control, the subsidiary is responsible for maintaining approprisle risk management and control practices to
meet the risk appetite as defined by the Company. Full and regular disclosure of the risk management activities and the results of the process should be done
to the Channe! : CRO.

4, Objectives of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)

The primary objective of the Company's Enterprise Risk Management approach is 1o support the Sanlam Group in achieving its primery objective of optimising
the return on group equity value and maximising shareholder value, An effective risk management process will support the achievement of the following
secondary objectives:

* The realisation of the Company's sirategic business goals;

+ Saleguarding of the Company's assets and investments (including information};

+ Compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and supervisory requirements;

* Supporting business sustainability under normal as well as under adverse operating conditions;
* Reliability of reporting; and

+ Behaving responsibly towards all stakehelders with a legitimste interest in the Company.

5. Risk management philosophy and appetite

The Board determines the maximum acceptable level of risk that the Company may undertake - the Risk appetie. The Risk appetite is derived from the overall
Risk appetite of the Sanlam Group (fypically expressed as required risk-based rate of return). In order to moniter the adherence to this overall strategic
appetite, additiondl Risk tolerance levels are defined and monitered on a regular basis, The Company's risk policy provides the cumrent Risk tolerance levels,
Material operating enfities within the Company must define similar tolerance levels applicable to their level of operations.

The ultmale responsibility for the management of risk in the Company vests with management (first line of defence), assisted by the ERM structures {the
second line of defence) and supported by the risk management culture set by the Company Executive Committes.

The Channel CRO determines the relevant risk management framework for the Company in accordance with the Group Guidelines and policies. The Channel
CRO monitors the risk management process and profile of the Company at an enlerprise level and as such will rely on various specialist risk management
functions {such as the Risk & Capital Management team in Channel Actuarial),
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8. Risk management philosophy and appetite (continued)
In the execulion of its ERM responsibilities, Channel must comply with all requirements set by the SPF and Sanlam Group. In particular, the escdation of risks

to the attention of the Sanlam Group must be done in accordance with the Channel Risk Escalation Pdlicy, which is afigned with the SPF and Sanlam Group
requirements.

The Sanlam Group CRO has the responsibility to consider risk management related decisions, risk miligation actions, and risk taken by Channel, and has the
right to veto risk responses if deemed detrimental to the Sanfam Group, or to insist on measures to reduce or restrict the detimenta! effect Such vetos must
be reported to the Sanlam Limited Board and Channel may eppeal such intervention to the Sanlam Limited Board.

6. Significant risk categaries

The identification of risks and the reporting there-on are directed by the Risk classification matrix which may be adjusted from time to ime o accommodats the
reporting requirements of the Santem Group.

The major risk categories for Channel are;
* Insurance risk
* Market risk
*  Credit risk
+ Strategic risk
« QOperationa risk
*  Liquidity risk

FA Risk management process

The Company must establish and maintain an effective and documented risk management process. The process covers the planning, amanging and
controliing of activites and resources to minimise the potential impact of risks to levels within the risk appetite, Although the risk management process is
considered a separate management discipline, it should be integrated and aligned with tha regular management processes of the organisation. The Sanlam
Group-wide ERM software, CURA, will be utilised for the capture and monitoring of all opergtional and business risks and significant incidents of risk
ratenialising (where practical).

The risk management process is iterative and can be summarised as follows:

Understanding the Context ek
- Ay i 1
Reporting
Risk tdentification -l-.h__\
Risk Analysis o Monitor & Review —‘
T — ]_ P /-._ ———
Risk Treatment "‘
— ————
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1. Understanding the context

For the risk management processes 1o be effective, if is important that the Channel Board, management and individuals assigned responsibility for risk
management clearly understand the lollowing:

« The relationship between the business and its operating environment;

* The business’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats;

* The crucial elements that might support or impair its ability to manage the risks it faces:

* The business capebiliies and its goals, cbjectives, strategies and values and the drivers of these;

* The financial planning cycle of the business.

The understanding and on-going monitoring of these aspects will assist in the pro-active identification of emerging and existing risks. The Channel CRO
should maintain risk evaluation crilteria and a logical, practical framewuork for the identification and analysis of risk and its root causes. The Channel CRO
should also assist business to set the goals, objectives and boundaries of the risk management process.

7.2 Risk Identification

During this qualitative step, the following should be determined:
* Whatis the risk? {Clear definition, highlighting the impact that the risk pose to the business).
+ What is the type and category of the risk?
* Whatis the root causes of the risk? (What will determine whether the risk will materiglise or the severity of the impact).
* What are the potential consequences, should the risk matesialise?
* Which objectives of the business may be impacted by the risk?

Various techniques may be used by the respective levels of management to identfy risk. Examples include risk self-assessment workshops, stretegy
sessions, analysis of write-offs, key risk indicators er losses, monitoring of controls in operations, analysis of key business drivers, analysis of key processes
and analysis of root causes of major extemal risk events,

Risk managers should work closely with other assurance providers {e.g. Internal and External Audit, Compliance and Forensic Investigations) to ensure that
dll significant riks are identified {either individually or cumulatively). Regufar assessments of emerging risks (at least annually) must be conducted to ensure
that all relevant risks are included in the Channel risk profile. To this end, the Ghiannel CRO must ensure that global studies of emerging risks are analysed
and the patential impact on Channel’s goals reviewed with the business risk managers, to delermine whather new risks should be included in the Channel risk
inventory.

73.  Risk Analysis

This quantitative step includes an analysis and assessment of:
+ The total inherent financial impact should the risk materialises: This assessment is done on the basis that al existing controls and mitigation actions will
fail. The time horizon of the quantification of all risks is one year in future (forward-looking).
+ The residual financial impact if the risk materialises within the next year: This is done on a residual basis, assessing the residual likelihood and residua)
impact, i.e. assuming that the existing controls and additional mitigating actions will be effective. Pre-determined rating scales, must be applied but ectual
monetary values within the identified impact range are sllowed to be specified where deemed more eppropriate.

+ ltis nol always easy to determine the likely impact (e.g. for reputational risks), but Impact matrixes can be used, where different levels of consequence
risks are aligned with the different impact scales (e g. for reputational risk, different levels of axposure or media coverage can be used to indicate the
likely impact). tis important lo quantify the residual impact as closely as possible, since the aggregated residual impacts will be usad in the quantification
of the risk-based capital requirements of the business.

» The CURA solution will calculate the residual combined rating: This can be expressed as & monetary amount {impact x probability) and will be used to
determine exposura to significant risks {in order to optimise resources).
+ Determine the Risk Control Effectiveness: This assessment indicates the level of effectiveness of existing risk management activities.

+ Identify related controls: In order to assist Intemal Audit in their Risk-based audit approach, the significant controls impacting the risk {mitigation) should
be identified and linked to the risk. A standard classification of controls shou!d be defined and deployed on CURA.
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73 Risk Analysis {continued)

The assessed level of residual risk, compared with the risk sppefite and tolerance levels of Channel, will datermine the prioritised list of key risks for further
detailed action and monitoring. Risks currently rated as Low or Medium must still be reviewed regularly to ensure that the levels of threat remain acceptable.
Particular ettention must be given to risk with a low likelihood, but extremely high impact, to ensure that contrels managing the likelihood are still effective.

74, Risk Treatment
‘The following management strategies can be followed once & risk has been quantified;
* Treatmant of the risk {reducing the likefihood or impact, should it matenalise),
= Transfer of the rigk {e.g. reinsurance or outsourcing to specialist risk managers).
+ Termination of the risk (termination of activities, products or services at the source of the risk).

+ Tolerance of the risk (risk with low probability of materiglising or where no additional mitigation actions can be identified for risks within the Channel Risk
Appetite).

The relevant respanse stralegy and supporfing actions must be documented and monitored continuously. For each action, the responsible person(s), the due
dale and any progress should also be recorded.

7.5. Ongoing monitoring and reporting

1.5.1.  Moniloring

Channel should review and report to the Channel Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee, Chennel Board and to the Sanlsm Group on its risk management
framework and processes et least annually. The aim of such reviews should be o provide assurance to the Audit, Actuarial and Risk Commitiee and to
improve the process over time.

Residual risk profiles must be raviewed regulary to determine the effectiveness and progress with mitigation actions.

The cusrent status of key risk indicators, risk tolerance levels and all major incidents must also be quantified and monitered regulery (at least quarterly).

7.5.2.  Key Risk Indicalors (KRI)

Key risk indicators for all categories of risks must be identified and measured regularly. Ideally target levels must be specified {aligned with the Channe! Risk
Appedite) and progress must be measured against these targsts.

7.5.3. Reporing
Detailed guidelines an the reporting process will be subject lo change as the risk management practices of the Sanlam Group and Channel evolve.

Basic prolacols will include:
* Quarferty reporting of significant risks and progress with action plans via the Exco, io the Channel CRO, lo ensure raporting lo the Channel Audif,
Acluerial and Risk Commillee Monthly reporting of significant new risks and incidents or progress on existing risk evenis fo Channel CRO, for
consolidated reporting lo the Channel Exco or Management as required; and

* Immediale escalation of risks lo appropriate levels of oversight as per the Channef Escalation mafrix,
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7.5 Ongoing monitoring and reporting (continued)

The following diagram explains the interaction among the different components of the overall risk management process

— s
< PAST PRESENT FUTURE >

* Ruviaw & Mottlior * Raviaw, Menltor, Assoss * Angose
* Risk Incidents * Risk Appetite and KRi's “ Risk ratirgs
T Emergieg ke

* Looking back:
> Review significant incidents and monitor management actions thel were implemented to prevent the incidant from recuming.
> Review progress with risk mitigation actions defined for significant risks.
« Curent Status:
> Useincidents as input in reviewing current risk profile of business.
> Review current levels of risk tolerance fimils and the impact on our Risk Appetite.
> Review current levels of KRI's.
> Review current environment (intemal and extemai).
* Looking forward;
> Use cumrent status review to review developing status of risk profile.
> Assess ratings of existing risks.
> |dentfy and analyse emerging or new risks,

8. Incident treatment

The incident management process follows a similar iterative process as for Risk management. An important component of incident management is to ensure
alink between the particular incident to the underlying risk and a relevant risk category in order to enhance the quantification of risks within these categories.
The CURA software provides for the recording and monitoring of incidents.

The risk manager must take cogrisance of aif material losses suffered in the business, as well as near-misses (where actual losses were either avoided by
chance or prevented through the effsctiveness of contrels). Incidents and loss trends must be analysed to ensure completeness of risk profilas and associated
Key Risk Indicator's.

9. Risk management roles and responsibilities

Specialist sk management roles exist within Channel. A decentralised risk menagement philosaphy is followed whereby each role has a specific mandate to
manage pariicular fisks or to provide assurance on the management of such risk.

Specific metrics and management actions must be reported to the Channe! CRO, to ensure that an overall portfolio view of risk is maintained for Channel.

Risk Management forms part of the Combined Assurance Model {framework) that provides assurance on oversight to the Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committes
and Board.
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10. Risk types
The major risk calegories for Channel are;

1. Operational Risk Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, pasple and

General Risks

systems; or from external events. It includes:

Information and technology risk: Risk of losses stemming from IT systems, infrastructure or processes.
Examples include deficiency of integration, inadequacies in systems or networks, loss of data or availability,
lack of credible data, obsclescence of infrastructure or applications.

Business continulty rlsk: Risk of business disruption, system failures and recoverability, damage to physical
assets or security braaches of systems and facilities,

Legal risk: Risk that Channel cperations ere disrupted or adversely affected by legal proceedings against the

organisation, adverse judgments from courts, contracts that tum out to be unenforceable or contractual
obligations which have not been provided for.

Policyholders’ reasonable expectation {PRE) risk: client facing documentation / mis-selling

Compliance risk: Risk of not complying with laws, regulations, rules, relsted selfregulatory organisation
standards and codes of conduet, investment management mandates, as well as the failure to uphold the
Sanlam Group's core values and code of ethical conduct. Market conduct involves the behaviour of an
organisation and of those that act on its behalf towards various stakeholders (including potential and current
customers, regulators or supervisors; investors; and other market participants). Market conduct comprises
markel discipline (including transparency and corporate govemance} and consumer protection (including
treating customers fairly).

Business continulty/Going concern risk: Risk of business disruption, system failures and recovery,
damage to physical assets or security breaches of our systems / facilities.

Fraud risk: Any form of unfawful conduct, from intemnal sources (iniiated by own employees or
intermediaries) or all extemal sources.

Taxatlon risk: The risk of financial loss owing to changes in tax legislation that result in the actual tax on
shereholders’ fund earnings being higher than expected, with corresponding reduction in return on Group
Equity Value (GEV); or the actual policyholder tax being higher than that assumed in the determinstion of]
premium rates and guaranteed rates policy benefits.

HR risks: Risks include employment practices and workplace safety, excessive staff tumaver, rernuneraﬁonL
structure risks and/or inadequale access to appropriate skills and capacity to operate effectively.

Regulatory risk: Risk of regulatory changes impacting business (FAIS, FICA, Ombud, TCF, RE exams,
political risk)

Process management risk: Risk of financial losses due to inefficient administrative processes, e.g. data
caplure errors, incomplete documentation, mis-selling or poor advice.

Project risk: Risk in major projects, whether [T or non-IT, inability to deliver project efficiently (time, budgat,
scope, business handover and control).

Financlal statement risk: Risk of financial misstatement, regulatory or reputational risk of non-conformance
with accounting and regulatory standards or restatement of financial statements.

Outsourcing provider risk: The risk arising from the inabiiity or unwillingness of an oulsourcing service
pravider to discharye its contractual obligations.

2. Reputational Risk Risk that adverse public perceptions (irrespective whather accuratefvelid or not) regarding the organisation's
business practices, business associations and market conduct will cause loss of stakeholder confidance in the
ntegrity of the organisation, ultmately resulting in financial losses. Stakeholders include cumrent and potential clients,
business associates, investors, suppliers and supervisors.
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10, Risk types (continued)
3. Strategic Risk Risks thet impact the ability to effectively implsment business plans and achieve strategic goals, including the risk of]

*

nappropriate streegies chosen and the risk of incorrect assessments of strategies. Also includes risks impacting the
going-concemn of the business. Itincludes

Strategic risk {risk of inefficient srategy, or inefficient implementation of strategies)
Key risk thal may impact the achievement of goals

Risks of mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures

Risks from competitors’ strategies

BEE / FSC risks

Financial and business-specific risks

4. Market Risk The risk that the economic position of the business is negatively affected by adverse changes in market prices and/or
interest rates. Also consider the impact of inflation on assets and lisbilities. Types of risks includes:

Equity risk: The risk resulting from the sensitivity of the values of assets, lisbilites andfor financiall
instruments to changes in the level or in the volatility of market prices of equilies.

interest rate risk: The risk of loss or adverse change in the value of assets and liabiliies dus to changes in|
the level or valatiity of interest rates. This includes Auctuations in unmatched or matched positions.

Currency risk: The risk of loss or adverse change in the value of assats and/er liabilities due to changes in
the level or volatility of currency exchange rates.

Property risk: The risk that the properties investment velue will fluctuate as a result of changes in the
snvironment {i.e. the risk of loss or adverse change in the value of assets and liabiliies due to unanticipated|
changes in the level and volatility of market prices of property). e.g. as a result of changes in the macro-
economic environment.

Asset liability mismatching risk: The sisk of a change in value as a result of a deviation between asset end
ligbility cash-flows, prices or carrying amounts. These include Asset/Liability modelling {ALM) for guaranteed
or with-profit portfolios. It includes malching by term, curency, amount, and type of lisbility,

Asset concentration risk: The risk of losses due loinadequately diversified portiolios. This is usually treated)
as a cause for general market risk

Credit spread risk: The sensitivity of the values of assets, lisbilities and financid insiruments to changes in|
the level or volatility of credit spreads over the risk-free interest rate term structure.

5. Credit Risk The risk that a third party defaults, in either payment or delivery of services. Parties include reinsurers, counterperties
for investments, intermediaries, JV partners, suppliers orissuers of security and banks. Types of risks include:

Default risk: Credi risk arising from the inebility or unwilingness of a credit counterparty to discharge its|
contractual cbligations.

Downgrade or migration risk: Risk that changes in the possible future default by an cbligator will adversely
impact current portfolio value.

Reinsurance counterparty risk: Concentration risk in terms of exposure to a limited range of reinsurers of
types of products.

Settlement risk: Risk arising from fag between valug and settlement dates of security transactions.
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10.

Risk types {continued)

|6. Liquidity Risk

This is the risk resulting from the enterprise’s failure to pay its debts and obligations (including claims and other|

lizbilities} when it becomes due; as a result of:

+  lsinability to convert assets into cash;

*  lts failure to procure enough funds; o

+  funds cen only be procured at such high rates, that the income and capital position of or market confidence in
Channel can be affected,

+  or Investment strategy may includa inadequate liquid assets to meet outflows from policyholder porifolics.

The risk can stem from external sources (competition, volatile markets, regulatory intervention, elc.) or internal

sources {operating systems, investment decisions),

Secondary types include:

* Market liquidity risk (also known as trading liquidity risk or essat liquidity risk): risk stemming from the lack of
marketability of a financial instrument that cannot be bought or sold quickly enough to prevent or minimize &
loss {or make the required profit).

+  Funding liquidity risk is the risk relating to the difficulty or inability to access or raite funds lo meet
commitments associated with financial instruments or policy contracts.

Financial and business-specific risks

7. Insurance Risk

The uncertainty underlying the frequency, severity and timing of future claims or expenses in our long-term insurance
book. Itincludes:
*  Underwriting risk: Risk products: risk that actual expetience relating to mortality, morbidity, disability deviates
from expected experience in pricing and valuation of liabilities.
+  Underwriting risk: Annuity products: risk that actusl mortality and longavity experience differs from expected
and valuation assumptions.
+  Persistency risk: Risk of financial loss due to unfavoursble experience on expected lapses, transfers-out,
surrenders, and paid-up transactions. It covers the risk of loss or adverse change in insurance liabilities due to
unanticipated change in the rate of policy lapses, temminations, renewals and surrenders.

*  Risk of Inefficient capital allocation: Parameter risk, model risk, insufficient dala, atc.

+  New product risk: Impact of new products and options on risk profile of Channel, including future reputational
nisk.

+  Expense risk: Risk of adverse expense experience compared to the pricing and valuation basis. It covers the
risk of loss or negetive change in insurance liabilities due fo unfavourable variation in the expenses incurred in
servicing insurance and reinsurance contracts.

+  Concentration risk: The risk of financiel loss due to having writlen large proportions of business with

policyholders of the same/similar risk profile (including catastrophe risk].

1.

1.1

Risk mitigation
Operational risk

The Company mitigales this risk through its culture and values, a comprehensive system of internal controfs, intemal audit, forensic and compliance functions
and other measures such as back-up faciities, contingency planning and insurance. The initigtion of transactions and their edministration is conducted on the
basis of the segregation of duties, designed to ensure the comectness, completeness and validity of all transactions.

The management of risks associaled with human resources is not addressed in this report.

The following functionaries assist in mitigating opemational risk:

+  Internal audit

A Sanlam Group Board-approved intemal audit charter governs internal audit activity within the Santam Group. Regular risk-focused reviews of internal
control and risk management systems are camed out. The authority, resources, scope of werk and effectiveness of the functions are reviewsd regularly.
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1. Risk mitigation {continued)

« External audit
The Company's extenal audilors are Ernst & Young Inc. The reporl of the independent auditers for the year under review is contained on pages 6 to 8 of
the annual financial statements.
The exlemal auditors provide an independent assessment of certain systems of internal Financial control which they may rely on to express an
independent opinion an the annual financiel statements. Non-audit services rendered by the external audilors are stictly governed by a Company policy
in this regard. The Company applies a policy of compulsory rolation of audit partners after every 5 years as defined in section 92 of the Companies Act
No 71 of 2008,

11.1.1.  Informstion and {echnology risk

IT risks are managed across the Sanlam Group in an integrated manner following the Enlerprise Risk Management framework. Sanlam Group IT is the
custodian of the Sanfam Group's IT Policy framework and ensures explicit focus on and integration with the Sanlam Group's IT Governance framework, which
includes the govemance of information security.

The Compeny's Chief Information Officer facilitates the process of identifying emerging IT risks as well as unpacking significant IT risks with company-wide
strategic or operational impact. The Company's Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committee provides guidance lo the Chief Information Officer regarding his duties,
such as the establishment of policy.

A quarterly IT Governance report, summarising the company-wida position is delivered to the Company’s Audit, Actuarial and Risk Committes.

11.1.2.  Going concermvbusiness continuily risk

The Board regularly considers and records the facts and assumptions on which it relies to conclude that the Company will continue as a going concern,
Reflecting on the year under review, the directors considersd a number of facts and circumstances and are of the opinion that adequate resources exist to
continue business and that the Company will remain & going concern in the foreseeable future, The Board's statement fo this effect is also contained in the
statement on the responsibility of directors in the annual financial statements.

11.1.3. Leqalrisk

During the development stage of any new product and for material transactions entered into by the Company, the legal resources of the Company monitor the
drafing of the coniract documents to ensure that rights and ohligations of all parties ere clearly set out. The Company seeks 1o minimise uncerizinties through
continuous consultation with intemnal and external legal advisers, to understand the nature of risks and to ensure that transactions ere eppropriately structured
and documented.

11.1.4. Compliance risk

Laws and regulations:
The Company considers compliance with applicable laws, industry regulations end codes an integral part of doing business. The Compliance Office, facilitates
the management of compliance through the analysis of statutory and regulatory requirements, and monitors the implementation and execution thersof.

11.1.5. Fraud risk

The Company recognises that financial crime and unlawful conduct are in conflict with the principles of ethica! behaviour, as set outin the Company's code of
ethics, and undermines the organisational integrity of the Company. The financial crime combating policy for the company is designed to counter the threal of
financial crime and unlawful conduct. A zero-iolerance approach is applied in combating firancial crime and all offenders are prosecuted. The forensic
services function level oversees the prevention, detection and investigation of incidents of unlawful conduct that are of such a nature that they may have an
impact on the Company, Ferensic services is also responsible for the farmulation of Company standards in respect of the combating of unlawful conduct and
the implementation of measures to monitor compliance with these standards.
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1. Risk mitigatien {continued)
11.1.6. Taxalion risk

The risk is addressed through clear contracting to ensure that policy contracts entille policyholders to after-tax retums, where epplicable. The Sanlam Group's
intemal tax resources monitor the impact of changes in tax legislation, participate in discussions with the tax legislator to comment on changes in legislation
and are involved in the development of new products. External tax advice is obtained as required. Taxation risk is not a significant risk for the Company.

11.1.7.  Requlaory risk

Regulatory risk is mitigated by ensuring that the Company has dedicated personnel that are involved in and therefore informed of relevant developments in
legislation, The Company takes a proactive approach in investigating and formulating views on all appliceble issues facing the financial services industry. The
fisk is also managed as far as possible through clear contracting. The Company menitors and influences avents to the extent possible by participation in
discussions with legislators, directly and through industry erganisations.

11.1.8. Process risk

The risk of failed or inadequate internal processes is addressed through a combination of the following:
* Arisk-besed approach is followed in the design of operational processes and internal controls;
* Operational processes are propery documented;
* Staff training and the employment of a performance-based remuneration philosophy; and
* Intermnal audit review of key operational processes.

11.1.9. Project risk

A formalised, risk-based approach is followed for the management of major profects to ensure that projects are effectively implemented and the project hurdle
rate is achieved. Key deliverables, progress and risks are monitored on a continuous basis throughout the project life cycle. Internal specialists and extemal
consullants are used as required to provide specialist knowledge and experience.

11.1.10. Quisourcing provider rigk

A Sanlam Group outsourcing policy is in place and aims to provide clear direction and policy regarding the strategic management (e.q. essessment of
oulsourcing options, establishment of agreements, the on-going management of and reporting on outsourcing) of all cutsourcing amangements, whether
axternal or internad within the Sanlam Group.

11.2.  Reputational risk

Reputation risk is the risk that the Company is prevented from applying miigating risk management policies due to the potential reputation impact on the
Company. Actions with a potential reputation impact are escalated to the appropriate level of sanior management. The Audit, Actuarid and Risk Commitiee
and Board of Directors are involved as required. Events with an industry-wide reputation impact are addressed through industry representative groups.

11.3.  Strategic risk

Stralegic risk is the sisk that the Company's strategy is inappropriate or thet the Company is unable to implement its strategy. The Company's strategy is
wddressed on a regular basis at various forums within the Company. Any significant events that potentially threaten the achievement of the Company's
strategy are escalated and addressed at the eardiest opportunity.
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11.4.  Market risk

The Company is exposed to various financial risks in connection with its current operating activities, such as forsign cumency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
markel risk and liquidity risk. These risks contribute to the key financial risk that the proceeds from the Company's financia! assets ere insufficient to fund the
obligations arising from insurance and investment policy contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are used only to economically hedge capital assets within a portfolio. The purchase of call options, futures or writing of put
options is only allowed if fully covered by the portfolio cash or maney market instruments for the full duration of the instruments. The sale of these derivatives
is only allowed if the assets underdying the instruments are held for the full duration of the instrument. Speculating in derivafive instruments is not pesmitted.

The Company manages these risks through the activities of the Audit, Acluarial and Risk Committee, the Estate Committes, the Asset Liability Committee and
the SPF Investment Committee {The Company does not have its own Investment Committee. This Committes has been consolidated into the SPF Investment
Committee). Each committee meets ot least four times per annum to discuss financia risk issues. Management is responsible for implementing
recommendations that have been agreed upon and reporting these recommendations back to the refevant commitiee.

The Audil, Actuaria! and Risk Committes is a commiltee of the Board of Channel Life Limited and is responsible for the implementation and monitoring of
overall risk management, internal financial contrels and financial and actuarial reporting within the Company. Tha main responsibilities of this committee are:

« Setting and overseeing the overall standard for financiel end actuarial reporting, risk management and intemal contrals within the Company,;

* Monitoring the effectiveness of business risk management processes in tha Company;

+ Reviewing and assessing the quality of the work done by professionals responsible for financial and actuarial reporing, risk management and inlernal
confrol;

+ Engaging in discussions with extenal and internal auditors on the quality and acceptability of the control environment and reporting structures.

The SPF Investment Commitiee is & management committee and its main responsibilities are;
* Provide oversight of the relevant underying investmeant portfolios whers policyholders bear the full investment risk;
* Oversee the SPF businesses' approach to investments and their respective offerings relating to finked investment funds without guarantees; and
+ Ensure that SPF adheres to TCF outcomes 2 and 5 for clients invested in these funds.

The Estate Committes and the Asset Liability Committee are Senlam Group committees, The Estate Commitiee reviews and oversees the management of the
Company's estale portfolios, which ere defined as all portfolios where the shareholder cariies all the investment risk. The Asset Liability Committee provides
for the management of the Smoothed Bonus business, Market-related business (with underiying investment guarantees) and other products with investment
guarantees of the Company. This entails appropriate asset-fiahility management to ensure a balanced protection of shareholder and policyholder interests and
delivery of relavant Treating Customer Fairly outcomes.

Seperate asset funds are maintained for the different products and categories of fong-term policy liabilities. The Company does conduct securities landing
activities in respect of its listed equities and bonds.
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1. Risk mitigation {continued)

11.4.1. Market risk - interest and equilies

The Company's business operations are exposed to market risk. Market risk arises from the uncertain movement in fair value or nat assef value of the
investments that stems principally from polential changes in sentiment towards the investment, the vaviability of future earnings that is reflected in the curent
perceived value of the investment and the fAuctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchangs rates. Policyholders' and shareholders’ investments in
equities are valued at fair value and are therefore susceptible lo market Auctustions.

The acquisition of palicyholders’ assets is based on the design of the product and marketing descriptions. Within these parametsrs, investments are managed
with the aim of maximising policyholder retums while limiting risk to acceptable levels within the framework of statutory requirements, The focus of risk
measurement and management is to ensure that the potential risks inherent in an investment are reasonable for the future potential reward, exposure fo
investment risk is limited to acceplable levels, premium rates are adequate to compensate for investment risk and an adequate reserving policy is applied for
long-term policy liabilites,

The diverse product range requires a variety of approaches to the management of risk; these range from portiolio management practices and techniques such
es optimisation of expected risks and rewards based on investment cbjectives, to assetiability matching in support of statement of financial position
obligations.

The SPF [nvestment Committee meets quarterly to set investment policy guidelines and to govern compliance to risk policies and limits, Comprehensive
measures and limits are in place to control the exposure to market risk of the investments of the Company. The aim is to ensure that eppropriate assets are
held where the liabilities are dependent upon the performance of specific portfolios of assets and that a suilable match of assets exists for all noninked
lisbilities. Limits are applied in respect of the exposure to asset clesses and individual counters. Whers applicable, advice is sought from the asset manager
on suitable amendments to the mandates. Senior management experience and judgmentis applied to monitoring and controlling merket risk.

Shareholders are exposed to interest rate risk in respect of interest bearing investments and cash, deposits and similar securities that have varying interest
rates. They also have a potential exposure to interest rate risks on the guaranteed products, should the actual return be [ower than the guaranteed amount.

11.4.2. Tenns and condilions of policy confracts

Insurance contracts
The Company derives the bulk of its operating profit from individual policies that provide death banefits for the policyholder and their immediate and extended

family members. Immediate family members may include: the spouse; children younger than 21 and parents. Extended family members may include: aunts,
uncles; cousins, nieces; nephews; children older than 21 and grandparents of the policyholder. The death sum assured is designed to meet the cost of
funeral expenses. Funeral policies sold subsequent to August 2001 only provide death and waiver of premium benefits but clder policies also include
surender benefits,

Investment contracts
Single premium guaranteed business comprises around 97.3% of the Company's investment policy libiliies. Benefits under these policies include a
guaranteed maturity velue.
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
114, Market risk (continued)

The Company also writes individual policies that provide for retirement funding and cther savings. Both the retirement savings product end recent savings
product include a retum-of-premium guarantee on matuity, This guarantee is also included on death for the retirement savings product and the 2010 and
later versions of the savings products,

Group policies provide lump sum death and disability benefits 1o groups of individuals such as: employees of a Company, members of funeral parour
schemes and members of church organisations. Group policies are generally sold with annually renewable premium and policy terms.

1143 Linked ligbilifies

The Company is nol exposed to market risk in respect of linked liabilities without garanteed minimum benefits, as the benefits under the contracts are linked
to the fair value of the supporting assets. Market risk is assumed by the policyholder. However, the existence of fund-based fees and charges means that the
Company is exposed to indirect market risk.

The Company is exposed to some market risk where the policy contract provides for guaranteed minimum benefits at death or maturity, The risk is managed
by matching the liablity with appropriate assets in terms of the Company's investment policies and by adjusting the tevel of guarantees for new policies based
on changes in the expected fulure investment return of the difierent asset classes. The Company's long-tem policy liabilities include a spacific provision for
the additional benefits potentially payable in respect of these policies. The current provision is calculated according to the requirements of APN 110 issued by
the Actuarial Seciety of South Africa, and is sufficient to cover the expected additional benefits. For this purpose a large number of simulations were performed
using the standard Barie & Hibbert aconomic scenario generator calibrated to South African market conditions at 31 December 2018.

11.4.4. Bonus stabilisalion reserves

If the fair value of the assets in the smooth bonus portiolio is greater than the policyholders’ net premiums invested plus declared bonuses, & positive bonus
stabilisation reserve is creatad which will be used to enhance future bonuses. Conversely, a negative bonus stabilisation reserve would be created if bonuses
declared exceed retum eamed. A negative bonus stabilisation reserve will be limited to the amount that the Head of Actuarial Control Function expects will be
recovered through the declarafion of lower bonuses during the ensuing three yeers, if investment retums are in line with long-term assumptions. Bonus
siahifisation reserves ara included in long-term policy liebilites. The bonus stabilisation reserve is cumently positive for beth endowments and retirement
annvities.

The declaration of bonuses is managed in terms of the Principles and Practices of Financia! Management adopted by the Channel Life Limited Board during
2008.

The Company is exposed to market risk to the extent that declared bonuses have vested. The risk is managed by mstching the ligbilities with appropriste
supporting investments and making part of the bonus declaration non-vesting.

11.4.5. Non-parficipaling annuities end quarantee plans

Interest rale risk is the principal financial risk in respect of non-participating annuities, given the long-term profile of these liabilities, Liabilities are matched with
assets, mosty interest-bearing, to ensure that cash flows and the duration of assets and liabilities are closely maiched. The ssset manager tests the impact of
changes in interest rates and formally reports the results to management on a quarterly basis. This is done by testing the sensitivity of the assets and lisbilities
to various scenarios for changes in the interest rates.

Guarantes plans provide for gusranteed maturity amounts, Market risk is managed by matching the liabilities with assets that have similer return and maturity
profiles as the liabilities.

Management is comfortable with the Company's exposure.
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
11.4.  Market risk (continued)

11.46. Cumrency sk

Currency fisk is the risk that the fair value and/or cash fow of a financial instrument will fluctuate owing lo changes in foreign exchange rates. The business's
exposure to cumency risk is mainly in respect of foreign investmenlts made on behalf of policyholders and shareholders for the purpose of secking desirable
intemational diversification of investments.

11.47. Policvholders' fund

Policyholder portfolios with exposure to foreign currencies are predominantly in respect of linked liabilittes where the holder of the contract is exposed to the
curvancy risk,

11.48.  Shareholders' funds — currency risk
There are no foreign denominated assets in the shareholders’ fund for 2018 and 2017.

11.5  Credit risk

Credit risk erises from the inability or unwillingness of a counter party to a financial instrument to discharge #ts contractual obligations. The Company
determines counler-parly credit quality by reference fo rafings from independent ratings agencies or, where such ralings are not available, by internal analysis.
The Company seeks to avoid unacceptable concentration of credit risk to groups of counter-parties, 1o businass sectors, product types, etc.

The Company’s financial instruments do not represent a concentration of credit risk because the business deals with a variely of reinsurers and its premiums
receivable and loans are spread among a number of major industries. customers and geographic areas. Amounts receivable in terms of long-term insurance
business are secured by the underlying velue of the unpaid policy benefits in terms of the policy contract. Premiums outstanding for more then 45 days are
fully provided for, An appropriate level of provisioning is mainteined. Exposure to outside financial institutions concerning deposits and similar transactions is
monitored egainst appraved limits. There are no malerial financial assats that are past due but not impeired.

Broker loans and advances are provided where the Company has adequate retention belence held for the broker and an assessment of the broker's financial
position is performed before granting the loan or advance. In addition to managing the credit risk, it should be noted that the Company's curent exposure to
broker debt is immaterial because precautionery provisions have been made against the bulk of the debt.

The Company, reviews reinsurance companies that it conducts business with, to ensura that the reinsurer is a company with high intemational or similar credit
ratings.

Maximum exposure fo credil risk

The life insurance businesses’ maximum exposure to credit risk is equivalent to the amounts recognised in the stalement of financial position, as there are no
financiel gueranlees provided to parfies oulside the Company, nor are there any loan commitments provided that are irevacable over the life of the facility or
revocable only in adverse circumstances,

The credit quality of each class of financial asset that is neither past due nor impaired, has been essessed as acceptable within the parameters used to
measure and monitor credit risk, as described above. There were no malerial financial assets that would have been past due or impaired had the terms not
been renegotiated.
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11. Risk mitigation {continued)
11.6.  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the business will encounter difficulty in raising funds to mest commitments asseciated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk
arises when there is a mismatch between the maturities of lisbilities and assets.

All poficyholder funds are invested in appropriate assets to meet the reasonable henefit expectations of policyholders, which include the expectation that funds
will be available to pay out benefits as required by the policy contract.

The value for policy liabilities and the assets backing them are as per the carrying amount in the statement of the financial position. Refer to the Policyholder
assets backing policyholder liabilities note on page 39.

Exposure to
Life Insurance businesses exposed to risk via: Liguidity rlsk

Policyholder solutions
Linked and market-related * v
Smoothed-bonus business
Stable bonus '
Participating annuities *
Non-participating annuities 2
Other non-participating lisbilities
Guarantee plans *
Cther?

* Thesa pabicyholder soluions do not exposa the Company 1o significant iquidity risks. Expected cash flows ere taken into account in determinmg the investment guidaiines and esset spread of
the portiokos. Limils are atso placed on the exposure ko lliqud mvestments.

* The kabililties are matched as far as possible with assets, moslly inferest-bearing, 1o ensure that the duralion of assets and isbilities are closely sligned

? Liquidity n s managed by maiching the habiilies with assets that have similar malurity profiles as the liabilities.

4 Policyholder portiofios supporting finked and markel-ralated business, paricipatng sanuities and olher non-participating ife business are invesied n eppropriate asssts, taking inlo account
expecied cash outllows.

* The table below sumrmanses the overall matunty profila of Ihe policyholder businass

Overall maturity profile of the 0to 1 year 1to Syears >5years Open ended Total
policyholder business R'000 R'000 R'000 R'a00 R'000
k]
Insurance contracts 50,215 119,511 142,812 108,088 420,626
Investment contracts - 4,570,194 64,388 59,362 4,689,944
Total policy Habilities ' 50,215 4,689,705 207,200 163,450 5,110,570
Equities and similar securifies - - - 63,335 63,335
Government interest bearing investments 17,063 196,481 10,074 - 223,618
Corporate interest bearing investments 27,594 569,514 558 - 597 666
Structured transactions - 536,396 - - 536,396
Investment funds - - - 251,195 251,195
Cash deposits and similar securities 1,667,222 1,653,690 - - 3,320,912
Long-term reinsurance assets 16,941 30,604 66,676 2,408 116,629
Net working capital 819 - - - 819
Total policyholder assets 1,729,629 2,986,685 77,308 316,938 5,110,570

' The amounts are conlractually repayabla on the cocurrence of the undertying risk event and therelore they could ba classified as repayable on demand. However, in order to provids additional
nformation. the tabls has been prepared based on the expected timung of the oulflows
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1. Risk mitigation {continued)
11.6.  Liquidity risk {continued)

Overall maturity profile of the 0to 1 year 1to 5 years >Syears Open ended Total
policyholder business {continued) R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
2017
Insurance contracts 58,567 126,817 166,559 123,436 475379
Investment contracts 39,340 5,053,266 22,983 64,187 5,179,796
Total policy llabilities * 97,907 5,180,103 189,542 187,623 5,655,175
Equities and similar securities - - - 13,837 73,837
Government interest bearing investments 2,378 190,890 10,502 - 203,771
Corporate interest bearing investments 119,193 $85,686 73,353 - 778,232
Structured ransactions 185,359 455,405 - - 640,764
Investment funds - - - 171,183 171,183
Cash deposits and similar securities 566,876 3,009,089 - - 3,665,965
Long-term reinsurance assets 19,004 29,490 73,248 2476 124,308
Net working capital {2,885) - - - {2,865)
Total policyholder assets 890,015 4,360,560 157,104 247,496 5,655,175

! The amounls ere contraciually repayabls on Ihe cccurrence of the underlying nsk event and therekre they could b classified as repayable on demand. However, in order o provide additonal
information, the fable has been prepared based on the expecied timing of the outllows.

11.7.  Insurance risk

Insurance risk arises from the Company exposure to risk if actual experience differs from that which is assumed. The Company is however also exposed to
persistency risk in respect of other policyholder solutions and insurance risk in respect of universal life solutions.

11.7.1. Persistency risk

Persistency risk relates o the risk of financial loss due to higher than expected lapse, surender and paid-up experience. The design of insurance products
extludes sumender guarantees to limit financial loss at surender.

Lapse experience is monitored af least twice per annum to ensure poor experience is identified tmeously and comective action taken as required. Such
comective action includes inter alia:

+ Identification and prevention of fraudulent new business;

+ Follow ups with agents and brokers who are selling business with low persistency:

» Performance management of staff who fall to apply controls at new business stage that are designed to filter out business with expected low persistency.

The Company's reserving policy is based on actual experience to ensure that adequate provision is made for lapses in the veluation of insurance contract
liabilities,

The Company's valuation methodology is that no policy should be treated as an asset. Therefors, the immediate impact of higher lapses will be relatively
small, although the profit expected in future years will be reduced.

The Company aims to achieve higher persistency by offering policyholders relevant products at reasonable cost. Many lapses are prevented by obtaining
details of the policyholder's netincome at new business stage and thereby confirming the affordability of the premium to the policyholder.

Persistency may also be adversely affected by macro-economic conditions that affect the affordability of the premium (e.g. entployment levels).
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1. Risk mitigatlon {continued)
11.7.  Insurance risk {continued)

Competiion may encourage policyholders to lapse policies and move their business to other insurance providers. Unscrupulous advisers may also
encourage policyholders to lapse and hence replace their policies.

11.7.2.  Undarwriting risk

Underwriting risk relates mainly to the uncertainty that the insured event will occur. The nature of an insurance contract is that the timing and size of claims
are uncertain and therefore unpredictable, The principal underwiting risk is the risk that the actual outcome of mortality, morbidity and medical claims will
result in volatile profits from one yeer to the next. Such vdiatility may result from large concentrations of risk or from charging inadequate premiums relative to
the severity or incidence of the risk acceplad. Inadequate policy wording may fail to protect the insurer from claims that were not envisaged when the product
was priced.

Insurance events are random and the actual number &nd amount of underwriting benefits will vary from the best estimates established from stafistical
techniques and taking cognisance of past experience. The Company manages these risks through its underwriting strategy, reinsurance emangements and
claims handling processes.

The following policies and practices are used by the Company as part of its underwriting strategy to mitigate underwriting risk:
« All long-term insurance product additions and alterations, both within and oulside of agreed business definitions, are required to pass through the
approvals framework that forms part of the governance process. The Head of Actuariel Control Function approves the financial soundness of new and
revised products.

+ The Company's underwiting strategy aims to ensure that the underwriting risks are well diversified in terms of type (medical, occupational, financial) and
amount of risk covered. Whilst this is difficult to measure at undenwriting stage, the success or failure of the strategy may be measured by the historical
stability of profits emerging from the bock of business,

* Product pricing and reserving pelicies also include specific allowance for the risk of HIV/AIDS,
+ The Head of Actuarial Control Function reports annually on the profitability of the business teking into consideration the reasonable benefit expectation of
policyholders, All new rate tables are approved and authorised by the Head of Actuarial Control Function prior to being issued.

+ The right to re-rate premiums is retained as far as possible, although this is limited by competitive pressure.
+ Investigations into mortality and morbidity experience are conducted at least half yearly to ensure that comective action is taken where necessary.

The Company's core funeral product offering is characterised by low sums assured which negates the need for undenwsiting at policy inception. The policy
conditions enabfe the Company to repudiale death claims atising from non-accidental causes during en initial waiting period after policy inception.

The Company's reinsurance arangements mainly comprise of propertional treaties a risk premium basis. The decision on the propertion of risk fo be ceded
follows mainly from the Company's desire to maintain its relationship with the reinsurers and is based on the level of assistance received from the reinsurers.
Exceptions to this are reinsurance cessions that are intended to limit the Company's exposure lo large sums assured.

Claims risk is represented by the fact that the Company may incur unexpectedly high mortality and morbidity losses on any group of policies. Client service
staff are trained to identify and investigate fraudutent cleims meously. The legitimacy of claims is verified by internd, financial and operating controls that are
designed to contain and monitor cfaims risk. The forensic investigation team also investigates and advises on improvements to internal control systems. In
addition, the company has calastrophe reinsurance to allow for muliiple claims arising from a single event to limit the overall claim amount that would be paid

11.7.3. Expense risk

Expense risk is the risk of loss in future periods due to actual expense experience being worse than assumed in the valuation of insurance contract liabilities.
Expense investigations are performed al least quartery and expenses are monitored and managed through the Company's budgeting process. The risk of
financia! loss is further reduced by product design that allows for flexible charges, elthough this is limited by competitive pressure,

Fixed costs are distibuted over a variable number of contracls and so a decrease in business volumes may negatively influgnce the business. Fluctuations in
variable acquisition costs are monilored to ensure consistency with new business volumes.
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1. Risk mitigation (continued)
11.7.  Insurance risk (continued)

Unexpected once-off costs will reduce profit during the year. Experience has demonstrated that it is impossible fo anticipate &l expenses during the budget
process. Therefore, negative impacts on future profit are reduced by making alfowance for once-off costs in the projection of future expenses.

Staff bonus incentives are dependent on achieving profit targets and so this ensures that stafl are aware of the need to manage expenses,

11.7.4. Sensilivity lo marke{ and insurance risks

Group Equity Velue is a critical element of the management information used by management in managing the Company and its operations. As such,
insurance and market risk sensitivities are presented below as changes in the nat value of in-force business (net VIF) of the Company for each reasonable
possible change in the refevant parameters. The total VIF of the Company as at December 2018 was R521 million.

Percentage change in net VIF from base value 2018 2017
Interest rate and assets
Incresse risk discount rate by 1% -5.08% -5.83%
Decrease risk discount rate by 1% 558% 6.39%
Investment return {and inflation) decreased by 1% and with bonus rates and discount rates changing 4.05% 4.54%
commensurately
Increase expected refurn on equities/property assels by 1% p.a. due to & change in the equity/property risk 059% 0.22%
premium with no consequential changes to discount rates
Shock scenario -1.79% -8.19%
Expenses and persistency
Non-commission maintenance expenses {excluding investment expenses) decraase by 10% 2.65% 3.06%
Discontinuance rates decrease by 10% 3.39% A%
Insurance risk
Base mortality and morbidity rates decreased by 5% for life assurance nen-annuity business 5.85% 6.49%

11.7.5. Concentralion of insurance risk

Concentration risk is the risk of financial loss owing to having written large proportions of business with policyholders of the same or similer risk profile. The
main concentration risk for the Company relates to geographic concentration. The geographical exposure of the Company's life insurance operations is based
on the value of pdlicy liabilities in each region. All of life insurance exposure is to the South African market.

Long-term insurance dsks for individual business do nof vary significantly in relation to the locetion of the risk insured. The Company is not exposed to a
concentration by amounts insured because its funeral preduct range has relatively low sums assured

The Company's group risk schemes do present a concentration risk. This is because employees working in close proximity to each other may be sffected by
the same claim event or risks specific to an indusiry. The Company has a catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance treaty to mitigate the risk arising from this
concentration.



